Aus dem Institut für Pharmakologie und Toxikologie des Fachbereichs Veterinärmedizin der Freien Universität Berlin und dem

Institut für Pharmakologie,

Center for Cardiovascular Research (CCR),

Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin

The role of angiotensin AT1 and AT2 receptors in the development of apoptosis and inflammation following experimental myocardial infarction

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines

Doktors der Veterinärmedizin

an der

Freien Universität Berlin

vorgelegt von

Kamal Elkhrbash

Tierarzt aus Arragipan / Libyen

Berlin 2014

Journal-Nr.: 3726

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung des Fachbereichs Veterinärmedizin der Freien Universität Berlin

Dekan:	UnivProf. Dr. Jürgen Zentek
Erster Gutachter:	UnivProf. Dr. Heidrun Fink
Zweiter Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Michael Schäfer
Dritter Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Salah Amasheh

Deskriptoren (nach CAB-Thesaurus):

Angiotensin, receptors, apoptosis, inflammation, myocardial infarction, rats, animal models

Tag der Promotion: 17.12.2014

Bibliografische Information der *Deutschen Nationalbibliothek* Die Deutsche Nationalbibliothek verzeichnet diese Publikation in der Deutschen Nationalbibliografie; detaillierte bibliografische Daten sind im Internet über <http://dnb.ddb.de> abrufbar.

ISBN: 978-3-86387-560-2 Zugl.: Berlin, Freie Univ., Diss., 2014 Dissertation, Freie Universität Berlin D 188

Dieses Werk ist urheberrechtlich geschützt.

Alle Rechte, auch die der Übersetzung, des Nachdruckes und der Vervielfältigung des Buches, oder Teilen daraus, vorbehalten. Kein Teil des Werkes darf ohne schriftliche Genehmigung des Verlages in irgendeiner Form reproduziert oder unter Verwendung elektronischer Systeme verarbeitet, vervielfältigt oder verbreitet werden.

Die Wiedergabe von Gebrauchsnamen, Warenbezeichnungen, usw. in diesem Werk berechtigt auch ohne besondere Kennzeichnung nicht zu der Annahme, dass solche Namen im Sinne der Warenzeichen- und Markenschutz-Gesetzgebung als frei zu betrachten wären und daher von jedermann benutzt werden dürfen.

This document is protected by copyright law.

No part of this document may be reproduced in any form by any means without prior written authorization of the publisher.

Alle Rechte vorbehalten | all rights reserved © Mensch und Buch Verlag 2014 Choriner Str. 85 - 10119 Berlin verlag@menschundbuch.de – www.menschundbuch.de

Table of Contents

•	Table of Contents	I
•	List of Tables	.IV
•	List of Figures	V
•	List of Abbreviations	/III
•	1. Introduction	1
•	2. Review of Literature	3
•	2.1. Myocardial infarction (MI)	3
•	2.2. Apoptosis in MI	5
•	2.3. Angiotensin II, Angiotensin receptor subtypes and apoptosis	10
•	2.4. The immune response following MI	11
•	2.5. Angiotensin receptors in the MI	12
•	2.6. Cardiac effects mediated by the AT1 and AT2 receptors	13
•	3. Material and Methods	15
•	3.1. Subjects and materials	15
•	3.2. Operational Procedure and induction of myocardial infarction	.16
•	3.3. Treatment with AT1 and AT2 receptor antagonists	16
•	3.3.1. Treatment procedure	17
•	3.4. Analysis of infarct size	18
•	3.5. Measurement of infarct size	18
•	3.6. Immunostaining	19
•	3.6.1. Single immunohistochemical staining	19
•	3.6.2. Single immuonofluorescent staining	27
•	3.6.3. Double immuonofluorescent staining	27

•	3.6.4. Triple immuonofluorescent staining	28
•	3.7. The Process of Reverse Transcriptase - Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)	29
•	3.7.1. Sample preparation	29
•	3.7.2. Ribonucleic Acid (RNA) isolation	29
•	3.7.3. RT-PCR	30
•	3.7.4. Analysis of PCR Products	30
•	3.7.5. Quantitation of PCR products	33
•	3.8. Protein extraction and Western blot analysis	33
•	4. Statistical analysis	34
•	5. Results	35
•	5.1. Myocardial infarction (MI)	35
•	5.2. The changes in AT1 and AT2 receptors mRNA during experimental MI-ind	luced
	cardiac injury	36
•	5.3. Upregulated mRNA levels of apoptotic marker P53 at different time points	after
	(MI)	38
•	5.4. Change in the expression of apoptotic marker P53 after MI	39
•	5.5. Immunohistochemical staining of cardiac apoptotic markers during MI	40
•	5.6. Colocalization of cardiac AT1 receptor with apoptotic marker P53 after MI	43
•	5.7. The role of AT1 receptor in cardiac apoptosis in rats with MI	44
•	5.8. AT2 receptor expression in cardiacmyocytes after MI	45
•	5.9. Colocalization of AT2 receptor with macrophage marker ED1 during MI	48
•	5.10. Colocalization of AT2 receptor and IL-10 after MI	49
•	5.11. Triple immunofluorescence staining of AT2 receptor and IL-10 with ED1 de	uring
	MI	50

•	5.12. The role of AT1 or AT2 receptor in cardiac inflammatory reaction in rats with
	MI
•	6. Discussion
•	6.1. The possible role of AT1 receptor during experimental myocardial infarction-induced
	cardiac injury
•	6.2. The AT1 receptor mediate apoptosis after MI62
•	6.3. The possible role of AT2 receptor during experimental myocardial infarction-induced
	cardiac injury64
•	6.4. The effect of MI-induced cardiac injury mediated by upregulated AT2 receptor after
	MI67
•	7. Conclusion
•	8. Summary
•	8.1. Objectives
•	9. Zusammenfassung
•	10. References
•	11. List of publicationsXIII
•	12. AcknowledgmentsXIV
•	13. SelbstständigkeitserklärungXV

List of Tables

•	Table1. Treatment procedure	17
•	Table 2. Antibodies for immunofluorescence staining	20
•	Table 3. Microscope and software	22
•	Table 4. Buffers and solutions	22
•	Table 5. Reagents for RNA isolation	23
•	Table 6. Reagents for Reverse Transcription.	24
•	Table 7. Reverse transcription reaction.	25
•	Table 8. Primers synthesis	25
•	Table 9. Miscellaneous	26

List of Figures

•	Fig 1. The atherosclerotic disease effect on coronary arteries
•	Fig 2. Physiological body respond to MI and the inflammatory respond to Apoptosis
	mechanism wound healing and remodelling after MI4
•	Fig 3. Apoptosis - programmed death of cells
•	Fig 4. Intrinsic pathways leading to apoptosis
•	Fig 5. Performing MI in Wister rats
•	Fig 6. Sagittal sections through adult rat heart showing the infarct area in left ventricle of
	MI compared to sham operated rats
•	Fig 7. Effect of MI-induced cardiac injury on ventricle AT1 receptor mRNA level36
•	Fig 8. Effect of MI on cardiac AT2 receptor mRNA level
•	Fig 9. After Myocardial injury caused by MI P53 mRNA levels were determined by RT-
	PCR
•	Fig 10. Western blot analysis of cardiac apoptotic marker P53 after MI39
•	Fig 11. Immunohistochemical localization of cardiac P53 proteins in rats 7 days after
	sham-operation or MI
•	Fig 12. Immunohistochemical staining of cardiac Caspase-3 in rats after sham - operation
	or MI
•	Fig 13. Immunohistochemical staining of cardiac apoptotic markers like P53, Caspase-3
	and Bax in rats after MI
•	Fig 14. Double immunofluorescence staining of cardiac AT1 receptor and P53 showed
	that AT1 receptor was co-localized with P53 in cardiomyocytes in the border-zones of the
	infarction43

- Fig 15. Western blot analysis of cardiac apoptotic markers including P53 and Caspase-3 after treatment with AT1 receptor blocker valsartan or AT2 receptor blocker PD123319 in rats with MI.

•	Fig 26. AT1 receptor blocker Val treatment reversed infarct size after MI
•	Fig 27. Overexpressed AT1 receptors participate in triggering cardiomyocyte apoptosis by

```
inducing P53-mediated apoptotic cascade after experimental MI......69
```

List of Abbreviations

ACE	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
AIF	Apoptosis inducing factor
АТР	Adenosine triphosphate
AMCA	Amino methyl coumarin acetate
Ang II	Angiotensin II
Apaf	Apoptotic protease activating factor
AT1	AT1 receptor subtype 1
AT2	AT1 receptor subtype 2
Bax	Apoptosis regulator
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma/leukemia-2 gene
B2	Bradykinin receptor
ß-actine	Beta Actin Antibody
Caspase-3	Cystinoaspartic acid specific
cDNA	Complementary DNA
Cy3	Cyanine dyes
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid

VIII

DISC	Death-inducing signal complex
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
ED1	Anti-CD68 antibody [ED1]
ECG	Electrocardiogram
FADD	Fas-associated death domain protein
Fas-L	Fas ligand
FITC	Fluorescein Isothiocyanate
GS	Goat serum
H2O2	Hydrogen Peroxide
HCL	Goat serum Hydrochloric Acid
IL-1ß	Interleukin 1
IL-10	Interleukin 10
IGF	Insulin growth factors
JAK	Janus kinase
kDa	kilo Dalton
KCL	Potassium Chloride
IAP	Left Atrial Pressure

LDA	Left descending coronary artery
LV	Left Ventricular
LVFW	Left ventricular free wall
MI	Myocardial infarction
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinases
MgCl2	Magnesium chloride
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
Na2HPO4	Sodium pyrophosphate
NaH2PO4	Natrium-beta-glycerophosphate
NF-kB	Nuclear factor-kappa B
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PCD	Programmed Cell Death
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD123319	AT2 angiotensin II receptor antagonist
P53	Tumor suppressor gene
РКС	Protein kinase
PC12W	Rat pheochromocytoma cell line
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor

R3T3	Mouse fibroblast cell line
RAS	Renin angiotensin system
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
RV	Right Ventricular
RRX	Rhoda mine Red - X
STAT	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
TAE	Trans arterial embolization
TGF	Transforming growth factor
T BID	Truncated Bid
TGF-ß1	Transforming growth factor-ß1
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TRITC	Tetra methyl Rhoda mine Isothiocyanate
VAL	Valsartan

1. Introduction

Myocardial infarction (MI) is one of the major public health problems and is associated with sudden death. After acute MI, the myocardium undergoes progressive dysfunction. The exact mechanisms responsible for progressive myocardial dysfunction are largely unknown. Recent studies have suggested that apoptosis and inflammation may play an important role in myocardial remodeling of MI-induced cardiomyopathy (1). Indeed, the ischemic myocardium triggers an inflammatory reaction after MI. The inflammatory process includes macrophage infiltration, elaboration of inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha, IL-1B and IL-6 and fibroblast activation (2, 3). Inflammatory reaction can severely damage the post-ischemic heart by inducing apoptosis (4), hypertrophy (5), extracellular matrix alterations (2, 6) and contractile depression (7). In the Animal models of MI induced heart failure, the cardiac renin-angiotensin system (RAS) was activated as confirmed by gene and protein upregulation of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), enhanced myocardial Ang II formation and angiotensin receptors upregulation (8 - 12). The previous studies reported that cardiac non-cardiomyocytes involving infiltrated monocyte / macrophages as the main targets of cardiac Ang II. These cells are mainly responsible for the increased expression of cardiac AT1 and AT2 receptors (13, 14, 15). However, the relevance of these increased angiotensin receptors in MI-induced apoptosis and inflammatory reaction is unclear.

Our preliminary data demonstrated that upregulated AT1 receptors was co-localized with pro-apoptotic proteins in cardiomyocytes surrounding the infarct zone in rats with myocardial infarction. In contrast, AT2 receptors were detected in macrophages infiltrating cardiomyocytes (16). The AT1 and AT2 receptors and their roles in cardiac remodeling after myocardial infarction have been examined extensively in Prof. Unger's group (17-20).

1

We have previously provided evidence that both AT1 and AT2 receptors are expressed in adult rat cardiomyocytes constitutively as well as after MI-induced cardiac injury. However, it is currently unknown if angiotensin receptors mediate apoptosis and inflammation in cardiomyocytes in-vivo. We have assessed the regulation of AT1 and AT2 receptors in association with the expression of apoptosis markers such as P53, Bax and Caspase-3 and cytokines (i.e. IL-2, IL-4, IL-10 and TGF-B1) by western blot and/or immunohistochemistry on days 1, 3, 7 and 14 after experimental MI in rats. Most of the known pathological effects of Ang II in the myocardium are attributed to the stimulation of its AT1 receptor while the function of the AT2 receptor is still a matter of discussion (21). Pharmacological inhibition of RAS at ACE or AT1 receptor level has proven to be a useful tool to treat cardiovascular disease and to reduce cardiovascular mortality (22, 23). Recent experimental data suggests that the AT2 receptor can be instrumental in preventing the consequences of ischemia after MI (24, 25). A potential advantage of the AT1 receptor antagonists over ACE inhibitors is that they inhibit the RAS more selectively at the receptor site. The AT1 receptor antagonists do not antagonize the AT2 receptor but expose it to high levels of Ang II. This may contribute to the beneficial effects of these drugs following myocardial infarction. The most pronounced beneficial effects of AT1 receptor antagonists have been observed when therapy is initiated during the early remodeling phase post MI (23). The remodeling is a relatively common post-acute MI event. The relevance of remodeling not only results in higher cardiac rupture prevalence, arrhythmia and aneurysm formation, but also modulates the onset and the progression of ventricular dysfunction, heart failure and the outcome of death following infarction. Additionally, this process is not homogenous in acute MI patients. Therefore, patients with diagnosed remodeling or under high risk of developing remodeling must be treated in an aggressive fashion to prevent, attenuate, or even revert the process.

2. Review of Literature

2.1. Myocardial infarction (MI)

Myocardial infarction (MI) or acute myocardial infarction (AMI) is commonly known as a heart attack. MI results from the occlusion (blockage) of a coronary artery and consequently the rupture of a vulnerable atherosclerotic plaque, which is an unstable complex of lipids (cholesterol and fatty acids) and white blood cells (especially macrophages) in the wall of an artery causing heart cells to die. (Fig.1)



http://www.fmh.org/causesofaheartattack.

(Fig.1). The atherosclerotic disease effect on the coronary artery.

Following the MI, the segment of the heart which is normally fed by the coronary artery becomes ischemic and consequently cardiac cell death due to prolonged oxygen deprivation. If the resulting ischemia (restriction in blood supply) and prolonged oxygen deprivation is left untreated for a long period, invariably results in damage or death (infarction) of cardiac tissue.

Wound healing takes place in the infarct area after MI where the dead cardiac tissue is replaced by a scar. The wound healing process includes proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis of different cells. The previous study by Cleutjens et al., (26) reported that apoptosis also plays an important role in the process of tissue damage due to MI. The authors indicated that the various cellular activities during apoptosis are initiated and regulated by growth factors and finally lead to replacement of dead cells by scar tissue. Following apoptosis, macrophages, fibroblast like cells and endothelial cells invade the infarcted area. Then, macrophages remove dead cells and debris. However, fibroblasts and endothelial cells proliferate and lay new networks of collagen and small blood vessels. Finally, scar tissue matures into a collagen rich segment (27, 28). Anversa et al (29) stated that the heart loses its contractile units and structure after MI resulting in reduction in the force of pumping and low performance.



http://www.fmh.org/causesofaheartattack

(Fig.2). Physiological body responds to MI and the inflammatory respond to apoptosis mechanism.

2.2. Apoptosis in MI

Apoptosis, i.e. programmed cell death consists of several steps such as nuclear condensation, subsequent formation of membrane-bound apoptotic bodies, and DNA degradation. Apoptosis is a highly regulated process that allows a cell to self-degrade allowing the body to eliminate unwanted or dysfunctional cells. Macrophages phagocytosis apoptotic cell before its contents leak into the surrounding space and thereby (**30**) prevent unnecessary inflammatory response. Apoptosis can be triggered in a cell via the extrinsic or the intrinsic pathway. The extrinsic pathway is initiated through the stimulation of trans-membrane death receptors, such as the Fas. In contrast, the intrinsic pathway is initiated through the release of signal factors by mitochondria.



Apoptosis, by Philip Yau, (August 2004)

(Fig.3). Apoptosis - programmed death of cells.

The Extrinsic Pathway: Extrinsic pathway is activated upon binding of ligands, released by other cells, to trans-membrane death receptors on the targeted marked for cell apoptosis. For example, the immune system's natural killer cells possess the Fas ligand (Fas L) on their surface (31). The binding of the Fas L to Fas receptors (a death receptor) trigger multiple receptors to aggregate together on the surface of the target cell. Subsequent aggregation of these receptors recruits cytoplasmic adaptor protein known as Fas-associated death domain protein (FADD). FADD, in turn, recruits Caspase-8, an initiator protein, to form the death-inducing signal complex (DISC). The recruitment of Caspase-8 to DISC, activate Caspase-3, an effector protein, to initiate degradation of the cell. Active Caspase-8 can also cleave BID protein to t BID, which acts as a signal on the membrane of mitochondria to facilitate the release of cytochrome c in the intrinsic pathway (32).

The Intrinsic Pathway: Intrinsic pathway is triggered by cellular stress, specifically mitochondrial stress caused by factors such as DNA damage and heat shock (32). Upon receiving the stress signal, the pro apoptotic proteins in the cytoplasm, BAX and BID, bind to the outer membrane of the mitochondria to signal the release of the internal content. However, the signal of BAX and BID is insufficient to trigger a full release. To achieve 'full activation' BAK, another pro apoptotic protein that resides within the mitochondria, is required to fully promote the release of cytochrome c and the intra-membrane content from the mitochondria (33). Following the release, cytochrome c forms a complex in the cytoplasm with adenosine triphosphate (ATP), and Apaf-1, an enzyme. Following its formation, the complex will activate Caspase-9, an initiator protein. In return, the activated Caspase-9 works together with the complex of cytochrome c, ATP and Apaf-1 to form an apoptosome, which in turn activates Caspase-3, the effector protein that initiates degradation. Besides the release of cytochrome c from the intra-membrane content release also

contains apoptosis inducing factor (AIF) to facilitate DNA fragmentation, and Smac/Diablo proteins to inhibit the inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) **(33)**.



http://www.scq.ubc.ca/apoptosis/

(Fig.4). The intrinsic pathways leading to apoptosis.

More generally, apoptosis also involves inflammation, which is part of the complex biological response of vascular tissues to harmful stimuli, such as (pathogens, damaged cells, or irritants). Inflammation is a protective attempt by the organism to remove the injurious stimuli and to initiate the healing process (34). It is a stereotyped response, and therefore considered as a mechanism of innate immunity, without inflammation, wounds and infections would never heal. Similarly, progressive destruction of the tissue would compromise the survival of the organism. However, chronic inflammation can also lead to a host of diseases

Apoptosis, by Philip Yau, (August 2004).

(atherosclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis), and even cancer. Therefore, because of these associated risks that inflammation is closely regulated by the body. Inflammation can be classified as either acute or chronic inflammation (35).

Acute inflammation is the initial response of the body to harmful stimuli and is achieved by the increased movement of plasma and leukocytes (especially granulocytes) from the blood into the injured tissues. A cascade of biochemical events propagates and matures the inflammatory response, involving the local vascular system, the immune system, and various cells within the injured tissue.

Chronic inflammation also known as prolonged inflammation, leads to a progressive shift in the type of cells present at the site of inflammation and is characterized by simultaneous destruction and healing of the tissue from the inflammatory process. Assessment of apoptosis is usually performed using a combination of terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT)mediated dUTP-biotin nick-end labeling (TUNEL) by light microscopy and genomic deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) ladder detection **(36)**.

In the phase preceding the execution, or degradation phase of apoptosis, a particular class of aspartate-specific cysteine proteases called Caspases is activated in a self-amplifying cascade (37). Currently, two major pathways leading to Caspase activation are characterized. One is a mitochondrial pathway, which involves mitochondrial release of cytochrome C, and probably other factors into the cytosol (38). The second pathway leading to activation is initiated by the ligation of death receptors such as Fas ligand and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α (39).

Caspase 8 is the most upstream in these pathways and is activated by a signaling complex. The best known factors controlling apoptosis are multi gene family of Bcl-2-like proteins with homologous structure, some of which, e.g. Bcl-2 itself inhibit apoptosis and while others such as Bax promote it. A determining factor for a cell continuing to exist without going into mitosis or apoptosis may be the ratio of different components of the extended Bcl-2 family that are being produced (40). MI is the leading cause of death from cardiovascular diseases (41). Since the first report documented (42), reperfusion-induced apoptosis in rabbit cardiomyocytes, many reports focused on confirming the appearance of apoptosis in ischemic cardiomyocytes and on its distribution in- vivo and humans (43,44,45). In humans MI (46,47,48) induced apoptosis has been observed in three different regions including the core of the ischemic myocardial area, the border zone of the infarction and the viable myocardium, remote from the ischemic area (49). The highest number of TUNEL-positive cells is consistently present in the border zone of the infarct but few positive cells can be observed in the central infarction region (50). The previous studies showed that after AMI in humans, 12% of cardiomyocytes were TUNEL-positive in the border zone of the infarction, and less than 1% in areas remote from the infarction zone. Recently, it was shown in an animal model that the increased apoptosis in remote areas after MI is associated with an elevated expression of pro-apoptotic proteins P53 and Bax and of caspase-3. TUNEL-positive cells increase during day 1-14 after permanent coronary occlusion and then decrease over 4 weeks (43). TUNEL-positive cells in MI are not limited to ischemic cardiomyocytes. Abundant numbers of non-cardiomyocytes such as coronary endothelial cells, interstitial macrophages, myoblasts and infiltrated neutrophils also undergo apoptosis (51).

2.3. Angiotensin II, Angiotensin receptor subtypes and apoptosis

Ang II mediates its physiological function by binding to highly specific receptors located on the cell membrane. In humans, two main subtypes of Ang II receptors have been identified, AT1 and AT2 receptors (52). It is generally accepted that Ang II exerts the actions of promoting cellular proliferation and apoptosis, however, the precise details remain controversial. It was initially considered that Ang II induces apoptosis via the AT2 receptor. However, more recent ex-vivo and in-vivo studies have suggested that AT1 and AT2 receptors could be involved in apoptosis (53,54). The cellular and molecular mechanism underlying Ang II induced apoptosis have recently been further investigated. A number of studies conducted in different types of cell lines have demonstrated that the AT2 receptor mediates apoptosis by inhibiting the mitogen-actived protein kinase activity (55). This action is mediated ex-vivo assays by activation of phosphatase like mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase 1 in PC12W and R3T3 cells (56,57). We have demonstrated that AT2 receptor activation induces apoptosis by dephosphorylation and thereby inactivate the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2. Furthermore, AT2 receptor stimulation also upregulated expression of both P53 and Bax genes which are potent inducers of apoptosis (55,58). Moreover, the potential role of AT2 receptor through Nitric oxide (NO) production in the induction of apoptosis has also been suggested (21). Recently, AT2 receptor induced Caspase 3 activation and DNA fragmentation have been also shown to be mediated by Ceramide accumulation in PC12W cells, suggesting an additional pathway by which angiotensin II may regulate apoptosis (20, 59). Furthermore, Ang II induced AT1 receptor stimulation has been reported in vitro to activate P53 DNA binding activity, leading to subsequent upregulation of the pro-apoptotic Bax gene. Consistently, both AT1 receptor antagonism and Ang II antibody administration prevented P53-induced apoptosis (60). A recent study has suggested that the AT1 receptormediated myocyte apoptosis may be affected via a protein kinase C dependent pathway (61).

2.4. The immune response following MI

MI is associated with an immune response. Physiological inflammation response causes selfrepair and protection, while pathological autoimmune response leads to ventricular remodeling and cardiac injury (62). In the early phase following MI, cytokine production participates in the recruitment of inflammatory cells such as neutrophils and macrophages at the border of the infarcted myocardium thus promoting the physiological process of myocardial healing. Acute inflammatory response post MI is the hallmark of wound healing (63). During the inflammatory phase, the infiltration of inflammatory cells is followed by removal of necrotic tissue and degradation of extra-cellular matrix components. The marked neutrophil infiltration at the infarct border occurs at first, second and fourth day after MI, while massive macrophage infiltration takes place after four days, which comprised the acute inflammatory response.

Macrophages, which have a strong phagocytic function, clear away necrotic myocardium and produce cytokines (TGF- β , PDGF, β -FGF) which stimulate neovascularization and fibroblast proliferation. Therefore, they may play a pivotal role in the transition between inflammation and myocardial repair. Lymphocytes, which are chronic inflammatory cells, appear by day two, and reach a maximum level at 7-14 days suggesting that they participate in the transformation from acute to chronic inflammation and the transition between inflammation and wound repair (64). In acute MI, an inverted CD4/CD8 ratio, i.e. Low CD4 cell count, is detected and it strongly correlates with low ejection fraction and high myocardial mass destruction (65). It has also been shown that CD8 T-lymphocyte numbers increase and mediate an essential part of the immune response observed following MI. However, an inappropriate inflammatory response may target at healthy cardiac cells, resulting in myocardial injury. Indeed, in-vivo evidence shows that donor lymphocytes derived from MI rats induce myocarditis in the recipient rats (66).

2.5. Angiotensin receptors in the MI

AT2 as well as AT1 receptor is a seven transmembrane domain receptor, but there is only 34% identity between them. AT2 receptor expression declines after birth, suggesting that it may play an important role in fetal development, and can be induced later in adult life under pathological conditions. The previous studies (67) reported that AT1 but not AT2 receptor stimulation induces programmed cell death in cardiomyocytes by activating P53. Indeed, Ang II is capable of promoting both apoptosis and neuronal regeneration via its AT2 receptor (67). It has been shown that AT2 receptor expression is significantly increased after myocardial infarction and is involved in mediating vasodilatation, anti-inflammation, anti-growth, differentiation and neuronal survival (14). However, AT2 receptors have been associated with cell protection but there is also strong evidence that Ang II acting through AT2 receptor induces apoptosis (68). The AT1 is the predominant receptor in the adult heart and considered to be the major mediator of the Ang II induced effects in the cardiovascular system (52). In contrast, AT2 activation has been reported to inhibit cell proliferation (17), to induce differentiation (18), apoptosis and regeneration (56, 69). Ang II has been implicated in ventricular remodeling after MI. After the induction of MI by coronary ligation in rats, a timedependent increase of AT1 and AT2 receptor mRNA levels in the heart are observed during the acute phase of MI (11). AT1 and AT2 receptor gene expression has been shown to be significantly increased at 30 min and peaking at 24h post MI. The data demonstrated that cardiac left ventricular AT1 and AT2 receptor gene expression is transiently elevated after MI. This in combination with increased Ang II receptor density may serve as an enhancer of the acute cardiac effects of angiotensin peptides post MI and thereby initiate the remodeling phase. Recent investigation, using a single-cell reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction, demonstrated that approximately 40% of adult rat cardiomyocytes expresses AT1 receptors and approximately 10% expressed AT2 receptors (14).

2.6. Cardiac effects mediated by the AT1 and AT2 receptors

Based on the idea that most of the effects of Ang II are mediated by its type 1 receptor, several experimental and clinical studies have demonstrated that AT1 receptor antagonist are more specific blockers of the RAS other than ACE inhibitors and attenuate most of the deleterious effects of Ang II in heart(70-75). A number of studies have demonstrated that Ang II-induced apoptosis of ventricular myocytes was inhibited by angiotensin AT1 antagonist losartan (68). Treatment of AT1 receptor antagonist has been shown to reduce infarct size, left ventricular loading, and to improve hemodynamics, coronary angiogenesis and anti-apoptosis. However, there is concern regarding application of the AT1 receptor antagonists as therapeutic agents in cardiac diseases as accumulated Ang II may excessively stimulate the AT2 receptors leading to unexpected effects (76, 19). Intensive efforts have been made to clarify the role of AT2 receptor during cardiac remodeling since the middle of 1990s, which resulted in many controversial reports. Evidence has now emerged that many of the actions of Ang II exerted via the AT2 receptor are directly opposed to those mediated by the AT1 receptor. The cardio-protective role of AT2 receptors was demonstrated in rats two months after MI treated with an AT1 receptor antagonist L-158809. Left ventricular remodeling and cardiac function were significantly improved and this effect was attenuated either by the AT2 receptor antagonist PD123319 or the bradykinin B2 receptor antagonist. The data suggest that accumulated Ang II induced by AT1 receptor blocker may exert cardio protective effects by stimulating the AT2 receptor via kinins and other autacoids (77). Accordingly, in transgenic mice overexpressing AT2 receptor in heart, the end-systolic volume indices were significantly lower and ejection fraction, blood pressure, and LV dP/dt significantly higher in 28 days post MI when compared with wild-type mice, suggesting a cardio protective role of the AT2 receptor in improving LV function during post-MI remodeling (25).

In contrast, several studies have shown that AT2 receptor mediates actions in coordination with AT1, therefore, the cardio protective effects of AT2 antagonist. In isolated working rat hearts, Ford et al (1996) showed that PD123319 an AT2 receptor antagonist given before ischemia significantly improved the recovery of LV work and efficiency (78). Similarly, PD123319, improved functional recovery in isolated working hearts with (79) or without ischemia-reperfusion (80,81). In respect of the growth promoting actions, AT2 receptor blockade, but not AT1 receptor antagonist inhibits interstitial DNA synthesis early after myocardial infarction in rat suggesting a growth-triggering role of the AT2 receptor (82). Furthermore, AT2 receptors also mediate the release of growth factors, e.g. the AT2 receptor antagonist PD123177 decreased secretion and immunostaining of transforming growth factorbeta1 (TGF-beta1) in valvular interstitial cells of the heart, although to a lesser extent than losartan (83). However, in several experimental paradigms, a role of AT2 receptors in mediating Ang II effects in heart could not be validated. In a long-term treatment report, SHR were treated for 12 weeks with the AT1 receptor antagonist candesartan or in combination with an AT2 receptor antagonist PD 123319. AT2 antagonism was not able to blunt or enhance the coronary hemodynamic improvement such as a reduction of minimal coronary vascular resistance of heart or left ventricular mass induced by AT1 receptor antagonism despite a partial prevention of the candesartan-induced hypotensive effect by Coad ministration of PD 123319 (84). Accordingly, the AT2 receptor blocker PD 123319 was unable to abolish the cardio protective effects of Ang II pretreatment in limiting infarct size in isolated rabbit hearts that could be antagonized by losartan (85).

3. Material and Methods

3.1. Subjects and materials



http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC295531/

(Fig.5). Performing MI in Wistar rats.

Experiments were performed on male Wistar rats weight between 250 to 300g. The rats were housed under climate-controlled conditions with a 12-hour light/dark cycle and were provided with standard rat chow and tap water. The animals were housed individually at controlled temperature and humidity under a 12-hour light/dark cycle and had free access to a standard diet and drinking water. The study was performed in accordance with German law on animal protection as released in its new version in 1993.

3.2. Operation procedure and induction of MI

MI induced by permanent ligation of the left descending coronary artery as described previously by Kaschina et al., **(86)** (see fig. 6). Briefly, after induction of anesthesia with an intra-peritoneal injection of ketamine/xylazine (Sigma Aldrich Chemie, Steinheim, Germany) (80 mg/10 mg/kg), rats are artificially incubated, ventilated, and connected to an electrocardiogram (ECG) recorder for continuous monitoring during surgery. A left thoracotomy was carried out by cutting the third and fourth rib and a rib-spreading chest retractor was inserted. Then, the left descending coronary artery was ligated. Successful ligation of coronary artery was verified by the occurrence of arrhythmia in the ECG and, visually, by the color change of the ischemic area. Rectal temperature was maintained at 37 °C by means of a heating blanket during surgery. At various time points up to 2 weeks after the operation, the animals were decapitated and the hearts quickly dissected into five distinct regions, namely the left ventricle (LV, surrounding area of necrosis), septum and right ventricle (RV). Tissues were frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70°C.

3.3. Treatment with AT1 and AT2 receptor antagonists

Animals were randomly divided into five groups as following: a)- sham operation without treatment b)- MI subjected to placebo treatment c)- MI subjected to AT1 receptor antagonist treatment d)- MI subjected to AT2 receptor antagonist treatment e)- MI subjected to both antagonists.

3.3.1. Treatment procedure

Infarcted and sham-operated animals were subjected to the following treatment as detailed in **Table 1.**

Drugs or Therapy	Dosage	Number of Rats	
Sham		10	
MI+ vehicle	10mg/kg/day	32	
MI+ valsartan	10mg/kg/day	24	
PD123319	30mg/kg/day	24	

For accuracy, the whole procedure was single blinded. After one week of treatment, the rats underwent a permanent ligation of the left descending coronary artery (LDA), which is a widely used surgical procedure to induce MI in animals. Treatment was continued for another 2 weeks after the surgery. For subcutaneous AT1 receptor (valsartan) or AT2 receptor (PD123319) antagonist delivery Alzet osmotic mini pumps (AP-2001, 0.5 μ l/hr, 7 days, Alzet Corporation, Cupertino, CA) were filled with sterile 0.9% saline with or without AT1 receptor (valsartan) or AT2 receptor (PD123319) antagonist to administer antagonist or vehicle continuously at 1 μ l/h. The mini pumps were implanted subcutaneously at the back directly after MI induction under anesthesia. To minimize the tissue damage at the site of pump implantation, the pump was gently moved around within the subcutaneous pocket every 2-3 days. All tests were performed on the 8th day after pump implantation. At the end of the treatment period, infarcted and sham-operated animals were decapitated and the hearts were rapidly excised and placed on a preparation chamber at 4c. The left ventricle (LV) was separated from atrial and the right ventricle (RV) and then divided into the inter ventricular septum (IS) and the left ventricular free wall (LVFW) including scar tissue and area at risk. The tissue samples were divided into two parts of equal size, rapidly frozen in liquid nitrogen and separately stored at-80. Another group of hearts was collected for morphological examinations.

3.4. Analysis of infarct size

Animals after MI at different time points will have the hearts removed for preparation of coronal sections (2-mm thickness). The fresh heart slices will be immersed in a 2% solution of 2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) in normal saline at 37 °C for 30 minutes and then fixed in 10% phosphate-buffered formalin at 4 °C. The TTC-stained heart slices will be photographed using colour film, and the volume of an infarct will be calculated using NIH Image (version 1.62) system.

3.5. Measurement of infarct size

Measurement of infarct size was performed as described previously by Takagawa et al., **(87).** Briefly, all histological sections were examined with a Leica microscope using a 1x objective. Images were captured with a Retiga CCD camera with the use of Open lab software (Improvision, Lexington, MA). Image J 1.62 software (National Institute of Health. Image J: Image Processing and Analysis in Java. Available at: http://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/) was used to measure areas of infarct and LV by an investigator who was blinded to the identity of the sections. The infarct area and the total area of LV myocardium were traced manually in the digital images and measured automatically by the computer. Infarct size, expressed as a percentage, was calculated by dividing the sum of infarct areas from all sections by the sum of LV areas from all sections and multiplying by 100.

3.6. Immunostaining

3.6.1. Single Immunohistochemical staining

Immunohistochemical staining of heart sections were performed with a vectastain avidinbiotin peroxidase complex (ABC) Kit, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA), as described. Unless otherwise stated all incubations steps were at room temperature and PBS was used for washing (three times for 10 min) after each step. The sections were incubated with PBS, 0.3 % H₂O₂ and 10 % methanol for 45 min to block endogenous peroxidase. To prevent nonspecific binding, the sections were incubated for 60 min in PBS containing 0.3 % Triton X-100, 1 % BSA, 4 % goat serum (GS) (block solution). The sections were then incubated overnight at 4°C with the following antibodies: Anti-rat Bcl-2 mouse monoclonal antibody (Cat:MS-598-P, Neo Markers, Washington), anti-rat Bax polyclonal antibody (Cat: 554106, BD Bioscience, USA) and Fas anti-rat monoclonal antibody Cat:F22120, BD Bioscience, USA) were used at 1:100 dilution The AT1 receptor polyclonal antibody from rabbit (Santa Cruz, sc-579) and AT2 receptor polyclonal goat antibody (Santa Cruz, sc-7420) diluted in 1:20 in the PBS for 1 hour at room temperature. Thereafter, the sections were incubated for 1hr with goat anti-rabbit, horse anti-mouse or anti-goat biotinylated secondary antibody (Vector Laboratories). Sections were then incubated with avidin-biotin-conjugated peroxidase (PK-400, vector Laboratories) for 45 min. Finally, the sections were washed and stained with 3', 3'- diaminobenzidine tetra hydrochloride (DAB) (Sigma) containing 0.01 % H₂O₂ in 0.05 M Tris-buffered saline (pH 7.6) for 3-5 min. After the enzyme reaction, the sections were washed in tap water, counterstained with hemaxylin, then dehydrated in alcohol, cleared in xylene and mounted in DPX. Score analysis of results was dependent on immunostaining density in each type of cell as in (table 3-11). The specificity of immunoreaction was evaluated in comparison with a negative control specimen without primary antibodies.

Table 2. Antibodies for immunofluorescence staining

1st Antibody	Source / Clone / Concentration	Dilution
Polyclonal goat	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc, California, USA	1:150
anti-rat AT2	/ C-18 / 0.2 mg/ml	
receptor		
Polyclonal rabbit	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc, California, USA	1:200
anti-rat	/	
AT1 receptor	0.2 mg/ml	
Polyclonal rabbit	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc, California, USA	1:200
anti-rat	/ P-19/0.2 mg/ml	
Bax		
Polyclonal goat	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc, California, USA	1:200
anti-rat	/ C-19/0.2 mg/ml	
P53 (C-19)		
Polyclonal goat	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc, California, USA	1:200
anti-rat	/ K-19/0.2 mg/ml	
Caspase-3		
Monoclonal	BD Biosciences pharmingen, USA / 0,5 mg/ml	1:400
mouse anti-rat		
CD11b		

Monoclonal	AbD Serotec / UK / 0.25 mg/ml	1:200
mouse anti-rat		
CD68 (ED1)		
Monoclonal	AbD Serotec / UK / 2.0 mg/ml	1:200
mouse anti-rat		
OX-62 (CD8)		

2nd Antibody	Source	Dilution
Cy3 Donkey	Jackson ImmunoResearch, Hamburg,	1:300
Anti-Goat IgG	Germany	
(H+L)		
Cy3 Donkey	Jackson ImmunoResearch, Hamburg,	1:300
Anti-Mouse	Germany	
IgG (H+L)		
FITC Donkey	Jackson ImmunoResearch, Hamburg,	1:150
Anti-Rabbit	Germany	
IgG (H+L)		
AMCA	Jackson ImmunoResearch, Hamburg,	1:200
Donkey Anti-	Germany	
Mouse		
IgG (H+L)		
RRX	Jackson ImmunoResearch, Hamburg,	1:200
	Germany	

Table 3. Microscope and software

Instrument	Company
Leica DMIRE2 fluorescence microscope	Leica, Wetzlar, Germany
LSM confocal microscope (LEICA SP2	
with AOBS)	
OpenLab Imaging Software	Improvision, Tubingen, Germany

Table 4. Buffers and solutions:

Description	Chemical composition
PBS* (Calcium and magnesium-	130 mM NaCl, 10 mM Sodium-phosphate buffer
free	(100 mM Na2HPO4. 20 mM NaH2PO4), pH 7.4
phosphate-buffered saline)	
MACS-Buffer	
	PBS-Buffer with 0.5% (w/v) BSA. pH 8.0
FACS-Buffer	PBS-Buffer with 0.5% (w/v) Bovine serum albumin
	(BSA) and 0.1% (w/v) NaN3
Chloroform	J.T.Baker, Griesheim, Germany
* Company: PAN Biotech	
GmbH, Aidenbach, Germany	
Table 5. Reagents for RNA isolation:

Reagent	Company
Trizol® Reagent kit	Invitrogen GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany
Ethanol	J.T.Baker, Griesheim, Germany
Isoproponanol	J.T.Baker, Griesheim, Germany

Table 6. Reagents for Reverse Transcription:

Reagent	Company	Chemical composition
Random primer	Promega GmbH, Mannheim, Germany	0.5 μg/μl
dNTPs mix	Promega GmbH, Mannheim, Germany	10 mM of each 4 dNTP. pH 7.0
5x M-MLV	Promega GmbH, Mannheim,	100mM Tris-HCl pH 8.8;
Reaction	Germany	500 mM KCl 1% Triton®
Buffer		X-100
Recombinant	Promega GmbH, Mannheim,	25 mM
RNasin®	Germany	
Ribonuclease		
inhibitor		
M-MLV-RT	Promega GmbH, Mannheim,	0.1 M Potassium phosphat
(reverse	Germany	pH 7.2. 0.2% TritonX®-
transcriptase)		100. 2 mM DTT and 50%
		glycerol

Table 7. Reverse transcription reaction:

Reagent	Final concentration	Final volume
5x M-MLV Reaction	1x	5 µl
buffer		
dNTPs mixture	25 mM	2 µl
Recombinant RNasin®	25 Units	0.5 μl
Ribonuclease Inhibitor		
M-MLV-RT (Reverse	200 Units	0.5 µl
Transcriptase)		

Table 8. Primers synthesis:

Company

TIB MOLBIOL Berlin, Germany

Table 9. Miscellaneous:

Instrument	Company
HeraeusTM Multifuge 3L-R	Thermo Scientific, Germany
In outpatter (Dinder CD210)	Dinder Cormony
Incubator (Binder CB210)	Binder, Germany
Tj-6 centrifuge with inserts for 96-well Plate	Beckman, Germany
Cryostat Leica CM3050S	Leica Microsystems, Germany
15ml / 50ml conical polypropylene tubes	Greiner bio-one, Germany
0.45 \$m seringe-filters	Greiner bio-one, Germany
Neubaurer improved counting chamber	Carl Roth, Germany
Paraformaldehyde	J.T.Baker, Griesheim, Germany
Acetone	J.T.Baker, Griesheim, Germany

3.6.2. Single Immuonofluorescent staining

The heart tissue sections were incubated for 20 min with blocking solution in humidified chamber and subsequently incubated with following antibodies: Rabbit polyclonal anti-AT1 receptor, mouse monoclonal anti-ED1 (Serotec, Oxford, UK) or mouse monoclonal anti-IL-10 (Santa Cruz, sc-32815), diluted in PBS containing 5% blocking serum for ~45 min in a dark humidified chamber. After incubation with primary antibodies, the tissue sections were washed with PBS and then incubated with the appropriate secondary antibodies; a) FITC conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody. b) AMCA or CY3 conjugated donkey anti-mouse antibody. Thereafter, sections were washed with PBS, mounted in vectashield (Vector Laboratories) and viewed under a fluorescence microscope with appropriate filters (#9 or #15 or #00 or #20) in a dark room, and the slides stored in the dark at RT or at 4°C.

3.6.3. Double Immuonofluorescent staining

The heart tissue sections were incubated for 20 min with blocking solution in humidified chamber then incubated with the following antibodies: a) Rabbit polyclonal anti-AT1 receptor in combination with mouse anti-P53 (Santa Cruz) or polyclonal goat anti-AT2 receptor; b) rabbit polyclonal anti-AT2 receptor in combination with mouse monoclonal anti-ED1 or goat polyclonal anti-IL-10 diluted in PBS containing 5% blocking serum for ~45 min in a dark humidified chamber. Subsequently, the tissue sections were washed with PBS and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibodies; FITC conjugated donkey anti-mouse or anti-goat antibody in combination with Texas red conjugated donkey anti-rabbit antibody. Thereafter, sections were washed with PBS, mounted in vectashield (Vector Laboratories) and viewed under a fluorescence microscope with appropriate filters (#9 or #15 or #00 or #20). The slides were stored in the dark at room temperature or at 4°C.

3.6.4. Triple immunofluorescent staining

The heart tissue sections were incubated for 20 min with blocking solution in a humidified chamber then incubated with the following antibodies: rabbit polyclonal anti-AT2 receptor in combination with mouse monoclonal anti-ED1 and goat polyclonal anti-IL-10 diluted in PBS containing 5% blocking serum for ~45 min in a dark humidified chamber. After incubation with primary antibodies, the tissue sections were washed with PBS and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibodies; FITC conjugated donkey anti-goat antibody in combination with Texas red conjugated donkey anti-rabbit antibody and AMCA conjugated donkey anti-mouse. Thereafter, sections were washed with PBS, mounted in vectashield (Vector Laboratories) and viewed under a fluorescence microscope with appropriate filters (#9 or #15 or #00 or #20). As above. The slides were stored at RT or at 4°C in the dark.

3.7. The Process of RT-PCR

3.7.1. Sample preparation

Each of the hearts was separated into 3 parts known as left, right ventricles and inter ventricular septum immediately after the hearts were removed from sham, MI, MI+ Vehicle, MI+ Valsartan, MI+ PD123319 rats. These myocardial tissues were frozen in liquid nitrogen. Tissues from the same section of the 6 hearts from each group were stored as together as one sample at -80°C for further analysis.

3.7.2. Ribonucleic Acid (RNA) isolation

The 12 samples were homogenized in a 10-fold volume (wt/vol.) of ice-cold Trizol reagent (Gibco, BRL) using a Polytron homogenizer (Janke & Kunkel, Germany) and total RNA extracted according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, following centrifugation (12,000rpm, 4°C, for 20min) of Trizol containing tissue homogenate, the aqueous phase was transferred to a new tube. Total RNA was precipitated through two consecutive ethanol precipitations separated by an additional phenol/chloroform extraction step. Finally, total RNA yield was quantified by UV spectrophotometer measured at 260 nm. The concentration and ratios of RNA/DNA of all the total RNA samples were measured by UV spectrophotometer through a special programmed computer card and recorded. Concentrations and ratios of total RNA were about 0.7 μ g/ μ L and 1.6 - 1.8 respectively. This showed that the RNA extraction was successful and the quality of total RNA from the samples was good (11). The RNA samples were stored in DEPC water at -80°C for reverse transcriptase - polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR).

3.7.3. RT-PCR

 5μ g total RNA of each of the 12 samples was reverse-transcribed into first-strand complementary DNA (fs cDNA) using oligo-dT primers (Gibco, BRL). The fs cDNA was amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The PCR was carried out in a total volume of 100µL containing Tris-HCL 20mmol, KCL 50mmol, MgCl2 1.5mmol, dNTP 0.2 mmol, 0.6 mmol of corresponding sense and antisense primers including β-actin, ACE, AT₁, AT₂ and VEGF respectively, and 2.5 units of Tag DNA polymerase. β-actin mRNA was included as an endogenous control. The PCR was performed using Perkin Elmer 9600 thermocycler. The PCR conditions included 30 cycles with denaturation step at 94°C for 1 min and target gene specific annealing temperature for 1 min; at 60°C (β-actin); 64°C (P53); 57°C (AT₁ receptor); and 53°C (AT₂ receptor) for 1min, respectively.

3.7.4. Analysis of PCR Products

Gel electrophoresis was used to analyse PCR products were analysed by gel electrophoresis. Briefly, 1.5% agarose gel was prepared in 10% TAE with EB (2µL EB in 50ml 1.5% gel). A 25µL aliquot of PCR product with 2µL DNA dye were loaded and electrophoresed through the prepared gel (Bio-Rad Sub cell* GT) at 90 volts for 45min. The results of electrophoresis were analysed with a UV lamp and a photo taken by a UV camera (UVL BER LOURMAT FRANCE TFX-35m). The scanned images were subjected to quantification using a software designed to measure the target gene expression relative to the endogenous control gene, βactin, with the specified RT-PCR conditions; software program through RT-PCR fragments which were scanned in photos **(88)**. These RT-PCR conditions were as outlined above. The PCR will be carried out in a total volume of 100 µl containing 20 mM Tris-HCL, 50 mM KCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 0.6 mmol of each primer, and 2.5 units of Taq DNA polymerase (Gibcol, BRL). The expression of the house-keeping gene, GAPDH mRNA, will be considered as an internal standard. The primer sequences were:

sense 5'- ACG TGG TGA GAC GCT GCC CT-3', antisense 5'- TGA TCG CTG GTT CCC CTC AAC-3') for P53, sense 5'- CAAGACGCAGGCTTTTTGGCC-3', antisense 5' ATACCGCTATGGAGTA CCGCTGGC-3' for AT1 receptor and sense 5'-TTGCTGCCACCAGCAGAAAC-3', antisense 5'- GTGTGGGCCTCCAAACCATTGCTA-3' for AT2 receptor cDNA. And sense 5'- ATCTGGCACCACACCTTCTA CAAT GAGCTGCG-3', antisence 5' - CGTCATACTCCTGCTTGCTGATCCACATCTGC-3' for β - actin. For ACE, the sense primer will be 5'- GACTGGTCCAACATCTATG-3', and antisense will be 5'- ATGAAGCTGACGAAGTACCT-3'. PCR will include 25 cycles for β actin, ACE, AT1 and AT2 receptors cDNA in a Perkin Elmer 9600 thermocycler. Three Steps PCR of denaturing, annealing, and extension reactions will be proceeded at 94 °C for 1 min, at 60 °C (β-actin) or at 64 °C (ACE) or at 57 °C (AT1-) or at 53 °C (AT2-) receptor for 1min, and 72 °C for 1 min, respectively.

5 µl MgCl2

2 µl dNTP

1 µl Antisense primer

1 µl sense primer

1 µl cDNA

and 0.5 μ l Tag DNA polymerase. The final volume was completed to 100 μ l with dist. water, mixed, placed in PCR machine at 95 degree for 5 min and 95 degree 1 min,

Annealed (each primer may different, e.g. for beta actin is 60 degree), Then it is extended at 72 degree and these step was repeated for 25-35 cycles at72 degree for 5min hold at 4 degree.

3.7.5. Quantitation of PCR products.

15 μl of PCR products will be diluted with 35 μl Tris/EDTA and submitted to ionic exchange chromatography on a Mini Q-column (Pharmacia) using the SMART micro chromatography apparatus (Pharmacia). PCR products were quantified by measuring the absorption at 260nm (peak integration against a calibration standard). Ratios of the corresponding peak areas (P53/β - actin, or AT1 receptor /β - actin or AT2 receptor /β - actin) then calculated for each sample.

3.8. Protein extraction and Western blot analysis.

In the second set of the experiments, protein levels of cardiac A and B were determined in additional sham operated and placebo-, PD123319-treated infarcted groups. At day 1 and day 7 after MI, the three tissue samples (RV, IS, LV free wall) of each animal were homogenized in 5 ml of ice cold lysis buffer containing 50mM Tris-HCL (pH 7.4), 0.5 M EDTA, 150 mM NaCL, 0.1% Triton-100, freshly added proteinase inhibitor (100 µg/ml PMSF, 1mg/ml Trasylol) followed by centrifugation at 14,000 rpm at 4 C° for 1 min. The supernatant was collected, and aliquots mixed with loading buffer (1M Tris-HCL [pH 6.8], 1% SDS, 30% glycerol, 0.8M DTT, 2% Bromophenol blue) and solubilized for 10 min at 95 C° and then centrifuged 30 min at 14,000 rpm at 4 C°. Protein concentration was determined as previously described by Bradford, using bicinchonic acid system (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) and bovine serum albumin as a standard. All preparations were carried out at 4 C°.

For Western blotting, the samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions. Briefly, 80 µg protein from the supernatant were precipitated by TCA and solubilized in modified SDS-PAGE sample buffer consisting of 5 M urea, 0.17 M SDS, 50 mM Tris, and 5% mercapthoethanol and loaded onto a 15% polyacrylamide Gel. Proteins were electrophoresed as previously reported by Laemmli (1970) and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Bio Rad, München, Germany) using a Bio-Rad Trans-Blot apparatus (120 Volt, 80 min). The membrane was washed three times for 20 min in TTBS (0.1% Tween 20, 100mM Tris-HCL, 150 mMHCL NaCL, pH 7.5), blocked for 1h in 5% nonfat milk/TTBS. After three washes in TTBS, the membrane was incubated with the following primary antibodies: anti-P53, anti-AT2 receptor, anti-Bax or mouse anti-Caspase 3 (Santa Cruz, sc-56055) 1:1000 dilutions of the anti-rabbit. Second antibody for 30 min at the room temperature. After extensive washes in TTBS, detection of immunoreactive bands was carried out using an enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) system (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Freiburg, Germany), and the blot was immediately exposed to autoradiograph film for 30 sec to 3 min. Each experiment was repeated three times.

The Western blot bands of P53, AT2 receptor, Bax or caspase 3 were quantified by Java Image processing and analysis software. The area and density of pixels within the threshold values representing immunoreactivity were measured, and the integrated density (the product of the area and mean of gray value) was calculated. Integrated immunodensities of controls and treated groups were compared and statistically analyzed.

4. Statistical analysis

Results were reported as means \pm SE multiple, while the statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by multiple pair-wise comparisons of geometric means with alpha-adjustment by Tukey-kramer test. Two-group comparisons were analyzed by the twotailed Student's unpaired t test for independent samples. For all procedures, P values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

5. Results

5.1. Myocardial infarction (MI)

MI, commonly known as a heart attack occurs when the blood supply to part of the heart is interrupted. This is most commonly due to occlusion (blockage) of a coronary artery. The resulting ischemia (restriction in blood supply) and oxygen shortage, if left untreated for a sufficient period, can cause damage and/or death (infarction) of heart muscle tissue (myocardium). We established animal model of MI in rats and we performed our experiments 7 days after MI.



(Fig. 6). Sagittal sections through adult rat heart showing the infarct area in left ventricle of MI compared to sham-operated animals. Bar = $100 \mu M$.

5.2. The changes in AT1 and AT2 receptors mRNA during experimental MI-induced cardiac injury

In the present study, the changes in the expression of AT1 receptor at 1 day, 3 days, 7 days and 14 days after experimental MI-induced cardiac injury was measured by reverse transcription–polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Interestingly, our results demonstrated that ventricle wall AT1 receptor mRNA levels were increased at 1 day but return back to normal level at 7 days after experimental MI-induced cardiac injury (**Fig. 7**). Also, the results showed that cardiac AT2 receptor mRNA levels were increased from 1 day, 3 days, and 7 days till 14 days after experimental MI (**Fig. 8**). The data suggest MI leads to an upregulation of AT1 and AT2 receptors which peaked at day 7 after MI. Therefore, we performed the further AT2 receptor-related experiments 7 days post MI.



(Fig.7). Effect of MI-induced cardiac injury on ventricle AT1 receptor mRNA level.

AT1 receptor mRNA levels were determined by RT-PCR with an internal cRNA standard. MI induced an upregulation of AT1 receptor mRNA formed at the 1st day but return back to nearly normal after 7 days from MI versus sham-operated animals.



(Fig.8). Effect of MI on cardiac AT2 receptor mRNA level. AT2 receptor mRNA levels were determined by RT-PCR. MI induced a gradual upregulation of AT2 receptor mRNA in rats 1 day, 7 days or 14 days after MI versus sham-operated animals. The pc12 cells served as positive control for the detection of AT2 receptor mRNA.

5.3. Upregulated mRNA levels of apoptotic marker P53 at different time points after MI

To further evaluate cardiac injury, we assessed the changes of apoptosis-related markers such as P53 in peri-infarct myocardium 1 day, 7 days and 14 days after experimental MI. Our RT-PCR analysis revealed that cardiac P53 mRNA levels were increased 1 day, 7 days and 14 days in response to MI-induced cardiac injury. The upregulation of P53 peaked at 7 day post infarct (**Fig. 9**). To study the adaptive response of AT1 and AT2 receptor to cardiac injury, we performed all our experiments at day 7 following MI.



(Fig.9). After myocardial injury caused by MI P53 mRNA levels were determined by RT-PCR. MI-induced myocardial injury led to a gradual upregulation of P53 mRNA levels from day 1 to day 7 after myocardial infarction versus sham-operated animals.

5.4. Change in the expression of apoptotic marker P53 after MI

Western blot analysis demonstrated a single 53-kDa band of P53 protein in the peri-infarct myocardium (Fig.10). The same band was observed in the peri-infarct myocardium at different time points post MI. The approximate molecular mass of the P53 was consistent with the calculated mass based on the molecular sequence and with that previously reported by others (53). Densitometry analysis of the 53-kDa band (Fig. 10) showed that MI-induced cardiac injury led to an upregulation of P53 from day 1, 3, and 7 to day 14 after MI. The increase of P53 was most significant at day 7 after MI-induced cardiac injury.



(Fig.10). Western blot analysis of cardiac apoptotic marker P53 after MI.

Relative P53 protein levels were determined by densitometry analysis. Band intensity was calculated by multiplying band areas by their mean optical density. MI led to an increase in protein levels of cardiac P53 from 1, 3 and 7 to 14 days versus sham-operated animals. (n= 6). In the statistical analysis using one-way ANOVA followed by multiple pair-wise comparisons of geometric means with alpha-adjustment by Tukey-Kramer test, the asterisks denote significant differences compared to sham-operated animals: P>0.05.

5.5. Immunohistochemical staining of cardiac apoptotic markers during MI

It is well established that apoptosis is an important mechanism in the pathogenesis of myocardial injury after MI. We explored the relationship of apoptotic markers with AT1 receptor during MI-induced cardiac injury in order to assess the potential role of AT1 receptor in apoptosis-involved cardiac damage. We assessed the regulation of AT1 receptor in association with the expression of apoptosis markers such as P53, Bax and Caspase-3 at day 7 after experimental MI in rats by immunohistochemistry. We detected a marked upregulation of cardiac AT1 receptor as well as P53 at day 7 after MI (Fig. 11). Immunohistochemical staining revealed abundant and heterogeneous distribution of P53 in cardiomyocytes. The strongest staining of P53 was observed in those cardiomyocytes located in the border-zones of the infarction (Fig. 11).

In contrast, Bax and Caspase-3 were mainly located in the area between the border-zone and necrotic lesion and in the area surrounding the necrotic lesion, respectively (Fig. 12, 13).



(Fig.11). Immunohistochemical localization of cardiac P53 proteins in rats 7 days after shamoperation (left) or MI (right). Immunostained cardiomyocytes were located within the infarcted myocardium 7 days after MI. P53 signals (brown) were dramatically increased after MI when compared to sham-operated animals. Magnification = 40X, Bar = 20 μ M.



(Fig.12). Immunohistochemical staining of cardiac Caspase-3 in rats after sham-operation (left) or MI (right). Immunostained cardiomyocytes were located in the peri-infarct myocardium 7 days after MI. The Caspase-3 signals indicated with brown color (arrow) were dramatically increased after MI compared to sham-operated animals.

Magnification = 40X, Bar = 20μ M.



(Fig.13). Immunohistochemical staining of cardiac apoptotic markers like P53, Caspase-3 and Bax in rats after MI. Abundant positive signals of P53 (left) were detected in cardiomyocytes along the border-zones of the infarction. In contrast, Bax (right) and Caspase-3 (middle) were mainly located in the areas surrounding the necrotic lesions.

Magnification = 20X, Bar = 40μ M.

5.6. Localization of cardiac AT1 receptor with apoptotic marker P53 after MI

To study the co-localization of cardiac AT1 receptor with P53 proteins 7 days after MI induced cardiac injury, we performed a double immunofluorescence staining of cardiac AT1 receptor and apoptotic marker P53. We observed that in the border-zones of the infarction a co-expression of AT1 receptor and P53 protein in the cardiomyocytes 7 days after MI (Fig. 14).



(Fig.14). Double immunofluorescence staining of cardiac AT1 receptor and P53, 7 days after MI that AT1 receptor (left) was co-localized with P53 (middle) in cardiomyocytes in the border-zones of the infarction. Magnification = 20X, Bar = 40μ M.

5.7. The role of AT1 receptor in cardiac apoptosis in rats with MI

These experiments was designed to evaluate the cardiac role of AT1 receptor by AT1 blocker valsartan (Val) versus AT2 blocker PD123319 (MI+PD) in cardiac apoptosis in rats with MI. Treatment with AT1 receptor blocker suppressed MI-induced upregulation of cardiac apoptosis markers including P53 and Caspase-3 (Fig. 15). Interestingly, we found that blocking AT2 receptor did not influence the levels of apoptosis markers involving P53 and Caspase-3.



(Fig.15). Western blot analysis of cardiac apoptotic markers including P53 and caspase-3 after treatment with AT1 receptor blocker valsartan (MI+Val) or AT2 receptor blocker PD123319 (MI+PD) in rats with MI.

The protein levels of P53, Bax and caspase-3 were determined by densitometric analysis. Band intensity was calculated by multiplying band areas by their mean optical density. The protein levels of cardiac P53 and Bax were increased in rats after MI versus sham-operated animals. AT1 receptor blocker (valsartan) abolished MI induced upregulation of cardiac P53 and Bax proteins. (n= 6). In the statistical analysis using one-way ANOVA followed by multiple pair-wise comparisons of geometric means with alpha-adjustment by Tukey-Kramer test, the asterisks denote significant differences compared to sham-operated animals: P>0.05.

5.8. AT2 receptor expression in cardiomyocytes after MI

Our immunohistochemical studies showed a dramatic increase of AT2 receptor in small infiltrating non-cardiomyocytes cells at 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury (Fig. 16). Furthermore, double immunofluorescence staining demonstrated a differential cellular distribution of cardiac AT1 and AT2 receptors at 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury. Consistently, our experiments showed expression of AT1 receptor immunoraectivity in cardiomyocytes. But AT2 receptor expression was detectable in non-cardiomyocytes probably including immune cells such as infiltrating macrophages within the peri-infarct myocardium 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury (Fig. 17).



(Fig.16). Immunohistochemical staining of cardiac AT2 receptor in peri-infarct myocardium at 7 days after MI showed that AT2 receptor is localized in small infiltrating non-cardio myocytes dark brown immunoreactivity (left) or red immunofluorescence (right). Magnification = 40X, Bar = 20μ M.



(Fig.17). Double immunofluorescence staining of peri-infarct myocardium at 7 days after MI showing differential cellular distribution of AT1 receptor (green immunofluorescence, arrow head) (left) and AT2 receptor (yellow immunofluorescence, arrow head) (middle) in peri-infarct myocardium. The representative immunofluorescence staining on control heart cryosection shows that AT1 receptor signals are localized in cardiomyocytes and AT2 receptor was concentrated in small non-cardiomyocytes. Magnification = 40X, Bar = 20 μ M.

5.9. Localization of AT2 receptor with macrophage marker ED1 during MI

We are able to show that AT2 receptor expressed in non-cardiomyocytes 7 days after MIinduced cardiac injury. Therefore, we further examined weather these non-cardiomyocytes expressing AT2 receptor are macrophages by investigating the co-localization of macrophage marker ED1 with AT2 receptor in the peri-infarct myocardium 7 days after MI. Double immunofluorescence staining clearly demonstrated that AT2 receptor were expressed in ED1 positive cells indicating that cardiac AT2 receptor are localized in infiltrating macrophages 7 days after MI (**Fig.18**).



(Fig.18). Double immunofluorescence staining of AT2 receptor and macrophage marker ED1 in the peri-infarct myocardium 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury. Upregulated AT2 receptor (red immunofluorescence, arrow head) (left) are located in ED1 positive macrophages (green immunofluorescence, arrow head) (middle) right panel is the merged image. Magnification = 40X, Bar = 20 μ M.

5.10. Localization of AT2 receptor and IL-10 after MI

Because we observed an increase in ED1 positive macrophages containing AT2 receptor, we extended our experiments to investigate the possible involvement of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 synthesized by ED1 positive macrophages during MI-induced cardiac injury. Double-immunofluorescence staining of AT2 receptor and IL-10 showed a co-localization of AT2 receptor with IL-10 in the peri-infarct myocardium 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury (Fig.19).



(Fig.19). Double immunofluorescence staining of AT2 receptor and IL-10 in the peri-infarct myocardium 7 days after MI. Upregulated AT2 receptor (red immunofluorescence, arrow head) (left) are located in IL-10 positive cells (green immunofluorescence, arrow head) (middle) and double staining is indicated in the merged image (right).

Magnification = 40X, Bar = $20 \mu M$.

5.11. Triple immunofluorescence staining of AT2 receptor and IL-10 with ED1 during

MI

Because we detected co-localization of AT2 receptor with IL-10 or ED1 during MI, we extended our experiments to perform a triple immunofluorescence staining of AT2 receptor, IL-10 and ED1. Indeed ED1+ macrophages infiltrated cardiomyocytes expressed both AT2 receptor and IL-10, 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury (Fig.20).



(Fig.20). Triple-immunofluorescence staining of AT2 receptor, IL-10 and ED1 in the periinfarct myocardium 7 days after MI. Upregulated AT2 receptor (red immunofluorescence; arrow) (left) are located at ED1 positive macrophage (blue immunofluorescence; arrow) (right) expressing IL-10 (green immunofluorescence; arrow) (middle). Magnification = 40X, Bar = 10 μ M.

5.12. The role of AT1 or AT2 receptor in cardiac inflammatory reaction in rats with MI

To evaluate the possible role of AT1and AT2 receptors in MI-induced cardiac injury in rats, the AT1 receptor blocker valsartan (MI+Val) or AT2 receptor antagonist PD123319 (MI+PD) were used for treatment. Our results showed that AT1 receptor blockage by valsartan treatment reduced the number of ED1+ macrophages infiltrating cardiomyocytes 7 days after MI. The number of cardiac ED1+ macrophages which was greater in MI than in sham could be reduced by AT1 receptor blocker (MI+VAL) but not by AT2 receptor blocker PD (MI+PD) (Fig. 21 and 22). In addition, we were able to show upregulation of IL-10 as determined by increased levels of mRNA and protein after MI compared to the control. Moreover, this upregulation of IL-10 after MI was reversed by AT2 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT1 receptor blocker Valsartan (Fig. 23, 24). Finally, we are able to show that infarct area was significantly increased in MI compared to control rat and this increase can be reversed by AT1 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT2 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT2 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT1 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT2 receptor blocker PD (MI+PD) (Fig. 25, 26).



(Fig.21). The effect of AT1 receptor blockage on the number of ED1+ macrophages infiltrating cardiomyocytes were evaluated 7 days after MI. ED1+ macrophages 7 infiltrating cardiomyocytes days after MI in rats treated with saline (MI), AT1 receptor blocker Val (MI +Val) or AT2 receptor antagonist PD (MI+PD). The number of ED1+ macrophages infiltrating cardiomyocytes after MI (left) was apparently reduced by AT1 receptor blocker treatment (MI+Val) (middle) but not with AT2 receptor blocker PD (MI+PD) (middle). Magnification = 20X, Bar = 40 μ M.



(Fig.22). The effects of AT1 receptor blockage on the number of ED1+ macrophages infiltrating cardiomyocytes were evaluated 7 days after MI. The number of ED1+ macrophages infiltrating cardiomyocytes 7 days after MI in rats treated with saline (MI), AT1 receptor blocker Val (MI +Val) or AT2 receptor antagonist PD (MI+PD) versus shamoperated animals was evaluated. The number of ED1+ macrophages infiltrating cardiomyocytes was significantly increased in MI versus sham-operated animals and this increase was significantly reversed by AT1 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT2 receptor blocker PD (MI+PD) (n= 6). In the statistical analysis using one-way ANOVA followed by multiple pair-wise comparisons of geometric means with alpha-adjustment by Tukey-Kramer test, the asterisks denote significant differences compared to sham-operated animals and MI +Val: P>0.05.



(Fig.23). AT2 receptor Blocker inhibits MI induced upregulation of cardiac IL-10 mRNA level in rats with MI. Cardiac IL-10 mRNA in rats with MI treated with saline (MI) or AT1 receptor blocker valsartan (MI+Val) or AT2 receptor blocker PD123319 (MI+PD) and control rats with sham-operation was measured by RT-PCR. IL-10 mRNA level was significantly increased in MI compared to sham-operated animals and this increase was significantly reversed by AT2 receptor blocker PD123319 treatment but not by AT1 receptor blocker valsartan (n= 6). In the statistical analysis using one-way ANOVA followed by multiple pairwise comparisons of geometric means with alpha-adjustment by Tukey-Kramer test, the asterisks denote significant differences compared to sham-operated animals and MI+PD: P>0.05.



(Fig.24). AT2 receptor blockade inhibits MI-induced upregulation of cardiac IL-10 production. protein was analyzed by western blot in rats with MI treated with saline (MI) or AT1receptor blocker valsartan (MI+Val) or AT2 receptor blocker PD123319 (MI+PD) versus sham-operated animals. IL-10 expression is greater in MI than in sham and this can be abolished by AT2 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT1 receptor blocker (n= 6). In the statistical analysis using one-way ANOVA followed by multiple pair-wise comparisons of geometric means with alpha-adjustment by Tukey-kramer test, the asterisks denote significant differences compared to sham-operated animals and MI+PD: P>0.05.



(Fig.25). Sagittal sections through adult rat heart showing the infarct area in left ventricle of sham-operated animals (sham) or MI rats treated with saline (MI), AT1 receptor blocker valsartan (MI +Val). Infarct area is greater in MI than that in sham-operated animals and this can be reduced by AT1 receptor blocker (MI +Val) treatment but not with AT2 receptor blocker (MI+PD).



(Fig.26). AT1 receptor blocker Val treatment reversed enlarged infarct size after MI. Infarct area measured in ventricles from 7 days MI rats treated with saline (MI), AT1 receptor blocker Val (MI+Val) or AT2 receptor blocker antagonist PD (MI+PD) versus sham-operated animals. Infarct area is significantly increased in MI than in sham and this significantly reversed compared to sham-operated animals by AT1 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT2 receptor blocker PD (MI+PD). (n= 6). In the statistical analysis using one-way ANOVA followed by multiple pair-wise comparisons of geometric means with alpha-adjustment by Tukey-kramer test, the asterisks denote significant differences compared to sham-operated animals and MI +Val: P>0.05.

6. Discussion

MI commonly known as a heart attack occurs when the blood supply to part of the heart is interrupted. This is most commonly due to occlusion (blockage) of a coronary artery. The resulting ischemia (restriction in blood supply) and oxygen shortage can cause damage and/or death (infarction) of heart muscle tissue (myocardium), if left untreated for a sufficient period.

6.1. The possible role of AT1 receptors during experimental MI-induced cardiac injury

In the present study, we used RT-PCR to investigate the changes in AT1 receptor mRNA at 1 day, 7 days and 14 days after experimental MI-induced cardiac injury. Interestingly, RT-PCR analysis revealed that cardiomyocytes AT1 receptor mRNA levels were gradually increased at time intervals from 1 day, 7 days to 14 days after experimental MI-induced cardiac injury. The upregulation of AT1 receptor reflected by the increase in mRNA approach were prominent at 7 days after MI with little change at the end of our experiments (14 days after MI). Therefore, we performed all our experiments including prevention therapy of AT1 receptor mediated MI-induced cardiac injury at 7 days after MI. Consistently with our PCR results. double immunofluorescence staining demonstrated that AT1 receptor immunoraectivity expressed in cardiomyocytes within rat ventricle walls 7 days after MIinduced cardiac injury. The upregulation of AT1 receptor observed in the present study are consistent with the previous observation that the AT1 receptor is the predominant receptor in the adult heart and is considered to be the major mediator of the Ang II induced effects in the cardiovascular system (52). After the induction of MI by coronary ligation in rats, a timedependent increase of AT1 and AT2 receptors mRNA levels in the heart is observed during the acute phase of MI (11). It was shown that both AT1 and AT2 receptors gene expression was markedly increased at 30 min and peaked at 24h post MI.
It is well established that apoptosis plays a critical role in normal development and in pathology in a wide variety of tissues (89). Indeed, apoptosis is recognized as one of the mechanisms of cardiomyocyte loss in cardiac ischemia reperfusion injury, MI, and vascular wall remodeling. In vitro studies have demonstrated the capacity of Ang II to induce apoptosis in both neonatal and adult cardiomyocytes via activation of AT1 and AT2 receptors (53, 68). Cardiomyocyte apoptosis may thus contribute to the remodeling that occurs in the transition from compensated hypertrophy to heart failure in hypertensive heart disease (90,91). However, the molecular mechanisms resulting in cardiomyocyte apoptosis after exposure to Ang II remain largely unknown. In the present study, we tested the hypothesis that stimulation of the MI-induced cardiac injury in rat heart by AT1 receptor is accompanied by apoptosis. We delineated the role of AT1 receptors and changes in Bax, Bcl-2, and Caspase 3 activation involved in AT1 receptor-associated apoptosis. Our present study using RT-PCR analysis revealed that cardiomyocytes P53 mRNA levels gradually increased at times intervals from 1 day, 7 days to 14 days after experimental MI-induced cardiac injury and this upregulation was prominent at 7 days. Therefore, we performed all our experiments including prevention therapy of AT1 receptor mediated MI-induced cardiac injury at 7 days after MI. Consistently, we detected a single 53-kDa band corresponding to apoptotic marker P53 in the adult rat ventricle wall using Western blot analysis. Moreover, densitometry analysis of the 53-kDa band demonstrated that MI-induced cardiac injury induced gradual upregulation P53 from 1, 3, and 7 to 14 days versus control animals. Our findings are in agreement with the previous studies by Zhu et al, (11) investigated the apoptotic development and apoptotic-related gene expression after MI at different time points using PCR. The authors observed that Bax gene expression was increased at 12 h after MI and peaked at 24 h. Also, Kobara et al., (92) showed that apoptotic markers such as P53 were increased in MI using Western blot and immunohistochemical techniques.

It is well established that apoptosis is an important mechanism in the pathogenesis of myocardial injury after MI. We aimed to define the relationship of apoptotic markers with AT1 receptors during MI-induced cardiac injury in order to confirm that apoptotic injury is an integral component of AT1 receptor mediated cardiac damage. We have assessed the regulation of AT1 receptor with specific regard with the association with the expression of apoptosis markers such as P53, Bax and Caspase-3 at 7 days after experimental MI in rats by immunohistochemistry. Interestingly, we observed a marked upregulation of cardiac AT1 receptors as well as P53 protein on day 7 after experimental MI. Immunohistochemical staining revealed abundant and heterogeneous distribution of P53 in the cardiomyocytes. Moreover, double immunofluorescence staining of AT1 receptor with apoptotic marker P53 demonstrated a co-localization of P53 protein and AT1 receptor in the same rat injured cardiomyocytes 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury. These present finding received strong support from the previous studies by Kossmehl et al., (93) showed that P53 proteins were increased in MI hearts and further elevated by Ang II suggesting that AT1 receptor P53 plays a key role in the pathogenesis of cardiac diseases such as MI. In this study, we also investigated whether another apoptotic marker Bax and Caspase-3 were upregulated during MI-induced cardiac injury. In deed our results showed that Bax and Caspase-3 were mainly located in the area between the border-zone and necrotic lesion and the area surrounding the necrotic lesion, respectively. Our findings are consistent with the previous studies by Zhu et al., investigated the apoptotic development and apoptotic-related gene expression after MI at different time points using PCR. The authors observed that Bax and Caspase-3 genes expression was increased at 12 h after MI and peaked at 24 h. Also, Kobara et al., (92) showed that apoptotic markers such as Bax and Caspase-3 were increased in MI using Western blot and immunohistochemical techniques. Although little is known of the exact molecular mechanisms controlling apoptosis in cardiac muscle, it has been suggested that

members of the Bcl-2 family may be general mediators of apoptosis (94). The Bcl-2 gene family consists of more than 15 members. They can be classified as anti-death or pro-death. Bcl-2 is a prototype for an anti-death or survival factor, whereas Bax accelerates the apoptotic process. Over expressed Bax also counters the death repressor activity of Bcl-2 (95,96). These proteins appear to dimerize with themselves or each other through Bcl-2 homology domains and thereby determine the susceptibility of the cell to induction of apoptosis. Thus the ratio of Bax to Bcl-2 determines death or survival after an apoptotic stimulus. Additional factors involved in apoptotic regulation include cysteine proteases belonging to the ICE/CPP32 family, now called Caspase-3, also referred to as CPP32, YAMA, or Apo pain (97).

Caspase-3 is expressed in cells as an inactive 32-kDa precursor. During apoptosis, the 32-kDa Caspase-3 proenzyme is first cleaved to release a 12-kDa fragment and an inactive, intermediate 20-kDa cleavage product consisting of a 3-kDa pro domain plus a 17-kDa subunit. Removal of the 3-kDa pro peptide from the 20-kDa peptide generates the 17-kDa mature, active form associated with Caspase-3 activity (**98,99**). One molecular mediator of hypoxia-induced apoptosis is the tumor suppressor P53.

P53 is a transcription factor that affects cell cycle arrest or apoptosis in response to a variety of genotoxic and physical stresses (100,101). Apoptosis may be elicited, in part, by P53 stimulated transcription of the pro apoptotic gene Bax 3 (102,103,104). Protein levels of P53 increase significantly in response to oxidative stress (105) and hypoxia (35). It has been shown that, P53 is induced by hypoxia in cultured neonatal cardiomyocytes and overexpression of P53 in normoxic myocytes leads to apoptosis (106). Apoptosis may play an important role in cardiac remodelling after MI.

6.2. The AT1 receptor mediate apoptosis after MI

In order to evaluate the influence of AT1 receptor blocker Valsartan versus AT2 receptor blocker PD (MI+PD) on the apoptotic markers such as P53, Bax and Caspase-3 and infarct area in rats with MI, we used western blot and morphological techniques. Interestingly, we are able to show that upregulated P53, Bax and Caspase-3 as indicated with increased levels of P53, Bax and Caspase-3 proteins in MI compared to control can be reversed to that of control by AT1 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT2 receptor blocker PD. Accordingly, P53 is likely to play a regulatory role in ischemia-related cardiomyocyte death as well. Matsusaka et al., (107) examined the effects of target deletion of the P53 gene on post-MI hearts. They conclude that P53 is involved in cardiac rupture after MI, probably via the induction of a pro apoptotic pathway. Interestingly, the inhibition of P53 may be a potentially useful therapeutic strategy to manage post-MI patients. Indeed, Nakajima et al., (108) suggest that antagonization of P193 and P53 activity relaxes the otherwise stringent regulation of cardiomyocyte cell cycle re-entry in the injured adult heart. In accord with our present findings showing the reduction of apoptotic markers by AT1 receptor blockage, Kanamori et al., (109) showed that blockade of AT1 receptor signalling attenuates heart failure following MI, perhaps through reduction of fibrosis in the non-infarcted myocardium. The authors showed that ten days post-MI, apoptosis among granulation tissue cells was significantly suppressed in the Olmesartan-treated hearts, where expression of Fas, Bax, and Caspase-3 were all significantly attenuated. They also suggested that Olmesartan exerts a negative regulatory effect on the alternate pathway downstream of Fas, Bax, procaspase-3 and proposed that the anti-apoptotic effect is important mechanism for an AT1 receptor blocker in improving post-MI ventricular remodelling, as well as its anti-fibrotic effect. Fortuno et al., (110) studied the effect of AT1 receptor blockade by Losartan on cardiac apoptosis in Ang II induced hypertension.

The authors showed that protein expression of AT1 and AT2 receptors accompanied with an increased rate of Bax and Caspase-3 mediated apoptosis was significantly increased in Ang II-infused rats compared with control rats. Moreover, the authors added that AT1 receptor antagonist Losartan treatment was able normalized apoptosis, the level of Bax, Caspase-3 activity, and AT1 receptors. Ang II stimulation of AT1 receptor in the heart in vivo is associated with an increased rate of apoptosis without major hemodynamic consequences. Bax and Caspase-3 are involved in the apoptotic signaling pathway in this experimental paradigm.

Finally, we are able to show that infarct area is markedly increased in MI compared to control rat and this increase can be reversed by AT1 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT2 receptor blocker PD (MI+PD). These present findings are consistent with the previous studies by Kanamori et al., (109) a demonstrated that after MI induction in mice, treatment with the AT1 receptor blocker Olmesartan, beginning on the third day post-MI, significantly improved survival (94%) 4 weeks post-MI, compared with saline (53%) and hydralazine (73%). The authors observed also that Olmesartan-treated mice also showed significant attenuation of left ventricular dilatation and dysfunction, as well as significantly greater infarct wall thickness, although the absolute size of the infarct scar was unchanged. In addition, significantly greater numbers of nonmyocytes (mainly vascular cells and myofibroblasts) were present within the infarct scar in Olmesartan-treated hearts. Our present results are also in agreement with the previous studies by Leri et al., (53) showed that physical forces such as stretch activate apoptosis and gene expression, of AT1 receptor, P53, and Bax increased and Bcl-2 decreased in stretched myocytes. Additionally, the AT1 receptor blocker, losartan, abolished apoptosis in stretched cardiomyocytes.

6.3. The possible role of AT2 receptor during experimental MI-induced cardiac injury

Our present study using RT-PCR analysis demonstrated gradual upregulation of AT2 receptor mRNA in ventricle wall from 1 day, 3 days, and 7 days till 14 days after experimental MI-induced cardiac injury. Consistently, our immunohistochemical studies showed a dramatic increase in AT2 receptor immunoreactivity on non cardiomyocyte structures resembling immuocytes infiltrating adult rat ventricle wall 7 days after myocardial infarction-induced cardiac injury. Furthermore, double immunofluorescence staining demonstrated a differential cellular regulation of AT1 and AT2 receptors immunoreactivity in adult rat ventricle wall 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury. Consistently, our experiments showed expression of AT1 receptor immunoraectivity in cardiomyocytes but AT2 receptor was expressed in non cardiomyocytes such as immune cells including macrophages within rat ventricle walls 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury. Our findings are consistent with the previous observation that the AT1 receptor is the predominant receptor in the adult heart and is considered to be the major mediator of the Ang-II induced effects in the cardiovascular system (52). In contrast, AT2 receptor activation has been reported to inhibit cell proliferation induce differentiation (18), apoptosis (56) and regeneration (69).

Ang II has been implicated in ventricular remodelling after MI. After the induction of MI by coronary ligation in rats, a time-dependent increase of AT1 and AT2 receptors mRNA levels in the heart is observed during the acute phase of MI (11) It was shown that both AT1 and AT2 receptors gene expression was markedly increased at 30 min and peaked at 24h post MI. The data demonstrated that cardiac left ventricular AT1 and AT2 receptors genes expression are transiently increased after MI and the increased angiotensin II receptor density may serve as an enhancer of the acute cardiac effects of angiotensin peptides post MI and be instrumental in initiating the remodelling phase. Recent investigation, using a single-cell reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction, demonstrated that approximately 40% of

adult rat cardiomyocytes expresses AT1 receptor and approximately 10% expressed AT2 receptor (14) These proportions were unchanged after the induction of acute myocardial infarction at day 1. At day 7 after infarct, however, AT2 receptors were expressed in 50% of cardiomyocytes. Accumulating evidence suggests that the inflammatory response is a key component of the structural deterioration associated with post-MI LV remodelling (63), (111, 112). The progressive extension of border zone myocardium to normally perfused myocardium during the chronic phase of MI leads to late-phase HF following MI (113). In consistent with our present finding, the inflammatory cells, macrophages are present in highest numbers and for longest period in the border zone and infarcted regions (114). Macrophages play a central role in the pathogenesis of fibrosis, thus it is plausible that persistent macrophage infiltration might contribute to the expansion of myocardial fibrosis in the border zone region, leading to progressive LV dysfunction. Therefore, we aimed to examine weather non myocardial structures containing AT2 receptor are macrophages in order to study the possible role of macrophage in AT2 receptor mediating MI-induced cardiac injury and weather there is correlation between upregulation of AT2 receptor and number of ED1 infiltrating rat ventricle wall during MI-induced cardiac injury. We performed these experiments especially at 7 days because the upregulation of AT2 receptor reached a prominent value at this time point. Indeed, double immunofluorescence staining clearly demonstrated that AT2 receptor expressed on ED1 positive cells indicating that AT2 receptor upregulated on macrophages infiltrating rat ventricle walls 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury. The inflammation in cardiovascular diseases is associated with the activation of a variety of cells including lymphocytes, monocyte/macrophage, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, and cardiomyocytes, which express and secrete pro inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (63). These cytokines can modulate cardiac function and cardiovascular remodelling.

Various cytokines were increased after MI, and the increases of TGF-, MIP-1, IP-10, and MCP-1 were more prominent in wild mice compared with Ang II type1a mice. These results suggest that Ang II is involved in production of various cytokines after MI, which induce post-infarcted cardiac remodelling including impaired cardiac function and increased fibrosis (115). Therefore, we extended our experiments to investigate the possible involvement of macrophage expressing cytokines such as IL-10 in myocardial infarction-induced cardiac injury. Double immunofluorescence staining clearly demonstrated that IL-10 expressed on immune cells indicating that IL-10 upregulated on macrophages infiltrating rat ventricle walls 7 days after MI-induced cardiac injury. Since we able to show an increase in ED1 positive macrophages containing AT2 receptor, we extended our experiments to investigated the possible involvement of cytokines IL-10 synthesized by ED1 positive macrophage in MIinduced cardiac injury. Indeed, triple immunofluorescence staining showed that ED1 positive macrophage infiltrating rat ventricle walls 7 days after myocardial infarction-induced cardiac injury express AT2 receptor and cytokine IL-10. The release of an anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 is important in cardiac injury. IL-10 may play a protective role by suppressing the production of pro inflammatory cytokines (116). IL-10 also exerts its cardio protective function by inhibiting neutrophil-endothelial interaction (117). Recently, Curato et al., (118) identified the non-cytotoxic and IL-10 producing CD8, AT2 receptor, T cell population, increasing after ischemic heart injury. Moreover, the authors demonstrated that AT2 receptor activation enhances cardio protective CD8 + AT2 receptor + T cells and IL-10 production in the infarcted myocardium confirming the protective role of AT2 receptor-during cardiac infraction by reducing inflammatory injury in the heart.

6.4. The effect of MI-induced cardiac injury mediated by upregulated AT2 receptor after MI

In the present study we evaluated the influence of AT1 receptor blocker Valsartan (Val) versus AT2 receptor antagonist PD123319 (PD) on the number of macrophages, IL-10 mRNA, IL-10 protein, IL-1B, IL-2 and infarct area in rats with MI using different techniques such as western blot, PCR and immunohistochemical techniques. Interestingly, AT1 receptor but not AT2 receptor blockage reduces the number of cardiac ED1 macrophages infiltrating adult rat ventricle wall after 7 days of MI-induced myocardial injury. The prevention effects of MI-induced cardiac injury mediated by upregulated AT2 receptor by AT1 receptor blocker Valsartan is consistent with the previous study by kohno et al., (119) showing the reduction macrophage infiltration in the border zone of rat with MI, resulting in less myocardial fibrosis.

AT1 receptor plays a critical role in inflammatory cell infiltration, cytokine production, and neovascularization in infarcted hearts (115). In deed, we are able to show that upregulated IL-10 as reflected with increased levels of mRNA and protein in MI compared to control can be reversed to that of control by AT2 receptor blocker treatment but not with AT1 receptor blocker Valsartan. In contrast to the prevention of IL-10 and IL-1ß upregulation by blocking AT2 and AT1 receptors respectively, IL-2 expression remains unchanged in MI.

7. Conclusion

Our main aim was to investigate the cellular regulation of cardiac AT1 and AT2 receptors and their potential roles in response to MI in rats.

In the first part we showed that upregulation of AT1 receptor on cardiomyocytes in response to MI in rats was concomitant with enhanced expression of apoptotic factors such as P53, Bax and Caspase-3 on cardiomayocytes. AT1 receptor blocker treatment suppressed MI induced upregulation of cardiac apoptosis markers including P53, Bax and caspase-3 (Fig. 15 and 16). Interestingly, we found that blocking AT2 receptor increase but blocking AT1 receptor suppressed MI-induced upregulation of cardiac apoptosis markers including P53, Bax and Caspase-3, reduce Enlarged Infarct Size and consequently prevent myocardial injury after MI. These results indicate that over expressed AT1 receptors may participate in triggering cardiomyocyte apoptosis by inducing P53 mediated apoptotic cascade after experimental MI (Fig 10). In the second part we found that AT2 receptors are mainly localized in infiltrated ED1 macrophages expressed IL-10 production in response to MI-induced myocardial injury. Interestingly, AT1 receptor blockage by specific blocker VAL treatment to rat with MI inhibit inflammatory reaction as indicated with reversed the increased number of ED1 macrophages infiltrating cardiomyocytes, upregulation in cardiac IL-10 and enlarged infarct area in MI. In contrast, AT2 receptor blocker PD treatment to rats with MI have no effect on inflammatory reaction as indicated with no change in the increased number of ED1 macrophages infiltrating cardiomyocytes, upregulation in cardiac IL-10 and enlarged infarct area in MI. These results indicate that blocking upregulation of AT1 receptor after MI-induced myocardial injury protects against inflammation-induced cardiac injury by IL-10 Production in ED1 macrophages.



(Fig. 27). Overexpressed AT1 receptors participate in triggering cardiomyocyte apoptosis by inducing P53-mediated apoptotic cascade after experimental MI.

8. Summary

Firstly, the study was designed to assess the role of the angiotensin AT1 receptor subtype 1 (AT1) and receptor subtype 2 (AT2) in apoptosis and inflammatory processes following myocardial infarction in vivo, as the data available suggests that Angiotensin II (Ang II) induces apoptosis via AT1 and AT2 receptors.

Ang II, the most important effector peptide of the renin-angiotensin system, mediates its effects through two main receptor subtypes, namely AT1 and AT2 receptors. Data from ex vivo studies indicates that the AT2 receptor mediates apoptotic effects. We have previously shown that both AT1 and AT2 are expressed in adult rat cardiomyocytes and in response to myocardial infarction-induced cardiac injury. However, it is currently unknown whether angiotensin receptors mediate apoptosis in cardiomyocytes in vivo. We have assessed the regulation of the AT1 receptor in association with the expression of apoptosis markers such as P53, Bax and Caspase-3 on day 1, day 3, day 7 and day 14 following experimental myocardial infarction in rats by Western Blot and/or immunohistochemistry. In addition, the colocalization of angiotensin receptors and apoptosis or cardiomyocyte markers were evaluated by immunofluorescence double labeling. We detected a marked upregulation of the cardiac AT1 receptor as well as P53 protein on day 7 after experimental myocardial infarction. Immunohistochemical staining revealed abundant and heterogeneous distribution of P53, Bax and Caspase-3 in the myocardium. The strongest staining of P53 was observed among injured cardiomyocytes at the border zone of the infarction. By contrast, Bax and Caspase-3 were mainly located in the area between the border zone and the necrotic lesion and the area surrounding the necrotic lesion, respectively. Also, we demonstrated a marked upregulation of cardiac AT2 receptors co-localized with ED1 positive macrophages infiltrating injured cardiomyocytes around the infarct areas.

Furthermore, our triple immunofluorescence labeling demonstrated a colocalization of AT2 receptors with IL-10 within ED1-positive macrophages infiltrating injured cardiomyocytes, suggesting a possible role of IL-10 and AT2 receptors in the inflammatory development after myocardial infarction.

Secondly, the study sought to investigate the role of AT1 and AT2 receptors in apoptosis and inflammation following myocardial infarction. We therefore investigated the influence of a specific AT1 and AT2 receptor antagonists on apoptotic markers, cytokine production and infarct size of the heart after myocardial infarction. Notably, AT1 receptor inactivation by the specific blocker valsartan treatment in rats with myocardial infarction suppressed myocardial infarction-induced upregulation of cardiac apoptosis markers including p53, Bax and Caspase-3, inhibited inflammatory reaction as indicated with reversed the increased number of ED1 macrophages infiltrating cardiomyocytes, upregulation in cardiac IL-10 and enlarged infarct area in myocardial infarction. In contrast, no effect on apoptotic process, inflammatory reaction or enlarged infarct area in myocardial infarction was observed in rats treated with PD to block AT2 receptor.

8.1. Objectives

1. Investigation of apoptosis and inflammatory reaction in association with the expression of AT1 and AT2 receptors in rats following acute myocardial infarction.

2. Comparison of the effects of the specific AT1 receptor antagonist (valsartan) and the AT2 receptor antagonist (PD123319) administrated at different doses on apoptosis, inflammatory reaction, cardiac function and infarct size in rats following acute myocardial infarction.

9. Zusammenfassung

Die Rolle von Angiotensin AT1 und AT2 Rezeptoren in der Entwicklung von Apoptose und Entzündung nach einem experimentellen Myokardinfarkt

Die Studie wurde konzipiert, um die Rolle des Angiotensin AT1 Rezeptor-Subtyp 1 (AT1) und Subtyp 2 (AT2) Rezeptor in der Apoptose und im Entzündungsprozess nach einem Myokardinfarkt in vivo zu bewerten, da Veröffentlichungen darauf hinwiesen, dass Angiotensin II (Ang II) Apoptose via AT1 und AT2 Rezeptoren veranlasst. Ang II, das wichtigste Effektor-Peptid des Renin-Angiotensin-Systems, übt seine Wirkung durch zwei Rezeptor-Subtypen aus, nämlich den AT1 und den AT2 Rezeptor. Daten von ex vivo Studien wiesen darauf hin, dass AT2 Rezeptoren einen apoptotischen Effekt haben. Es ist bereits nachgewiesen, dass sowohl AT1 Rezeptoren als auch AT2 Rezeptoren in Kardiomyozyten von adulten Ratten und als Antwort auf Myokardinfarkt induzierte Herzschädigung exprimiert werden. Es ist jedoch zurzeit noch unbekannt, ob Angiotensin Rezeptoren in vivo eine Apoptose in Kardiomyozyten auslösen. Wir haben die Regulation von AT1 Rezeptoren in Verbindung mit der Expression von Apoptosemarkern, wie P53, Bax und Caspase-3, am Tag 1, Tag 3, Tag 7 und Tag 14 nach einem experimentellen Myokardinfarkt in Ratten mittels Western-Blot und/oder Immunhistochemie untersucht. Darüber hinaus wurden die Co-Lokalisierung von Angiotensin Rezeptoren und Apoptose- bzw. Kardiomyozytenmarkern durch Immunfluoreszenz Doppelmarkierung ausgewertet. Wir fanden eine deutliche Hochregulierung von Herz AT1 Rezeptoren als auch P53 Protein am Tag 7 nach einem experimentellen Myokardinfarkt. Immunhistochemische Färbung ergab reichliche und heterogene Verteilung von P53, Bax und Caspase-3 im Myokard. Die stärkste Färbung von P53 wurde in verletzten Herzmuskelzellen an den Grenzzonen des Infarkts beobachtet. Im Gegensatz dazu wurden Bax und Caspase-3 hauptsächlich im Bereich zwischen der Grenzzone und der nekrotischen Läsion beziehungsweise der Umgebung der nekrotischen Läsionen festgestellt. Außerdem haben wir eine deutliche Hochregulierung des AT2 Rezeptors am Herzen mit ED1 positiven Makrophagen nachgewiesen, die verletzte Kardiomyozyten um die Infarktbereiche infiltrieren. Darüber hinaus zeigte eine Dreifach-Immunfluoreszenzfärbung eine Co-Lokalisation von AT2 Rezeptor mit IL-10 innerhalb der ED1 positiven Makrophagen, die ebenfalls verletzte Herzmuskelzellen infiltrieren. Dies könnte auf eine mögliche Rolle von IL-10 und AT2 Rezeptoren in der Entzündungsentwicklung nach einem Myokardinfarkt hinweisen.

Des Weiteren wollten wir in dieser Studie die Rolle der AT1 und AT2 Rezeptoren in der Apoptose und Entzündung nach Myokardinfarkt hinterfragen. Wir untersuchten daher den Einfluss von spezifischen AT1 und AT2 Rezeptor Antagonisten auf apoptotische Marker, Zytokin Produktion und die Infarktgröße von Herzen nach Myokardinfarkt. Wichtig ist zudem, dass die AT1 Rezeptor Inaktivierung bei Ratten mit Myokardinfarkt durch die Behandlung mit dem spezifischen Blocker Valsartan auch die Myokardinfarkt-induzierte Hochregulation der Herzapoptosemarker einschließlich P53, Bax und Caspase-3, unterdrückte. Die Behandlungen inhibierten außerdem die entzündliche Reaktion wie beschrieben mit einer Umkehr der erhöhten Anzahl von Kardiomyozyten infiltrierenden ED1 Makrophagen und einer Hochregulierung des kardialen IL-10 und eines vergrößerten Infarktbereichs in MI. Im Gegensatz dazu wurde keine Wirkung auf den apoptotischen Prozess, die entzündliche Reaktion oder den vergrößerten Infarktbereich in Myokardinfarkt bei Ratten beobachtet, die mit PD behandelt wurden um den AT2 Rezeptor zu blockieren.

10. References

1. Suzuki K, Murtuza B, Smolenski RT, Sammut IA, Suzuki N, Kaneda Y, Yacoub MH. Overexpression of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist provides cardio protection against ischemia-reperfusion injury associated with reduction in apoptosis. Circulation.2001; 104:I308 – I3.

2. Yue P, Massie BM, Simpson PC, Long CS. Cytokine expression increases in non myocytes from rats with post infarct heart failure. Am J Physiol. **1998**; 275:H250 – H258.

3. Wagner DR, Kubota T, Sanders VJ, McTiernan CF, Feldman AM. Differential regulation of cardiac expression of IL-6 and TNF-alpha by A2- and A3-adenosine receptors. Am J Physiol. **1999**; 276:H2141 – H2147.

4. Krown KA, Page MT, Nguyen C, Zechner D, Gutierres V, Comstock KL, Glembotski CC, Quintana PJE, Sabbadini RA. Tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis in cardiac myocytes: involvement of the sphingolipid signalling cascade in cardiac cell death. J Clin Invest. **1996**; 98:2854 – 2865.

5. Thaik CM, Calderone A, Takahashi N, Colucci WS. Interleucine-1ß modulates the growth and phenotype of neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. J Clin Inves. **1995**; 96: 1093 – 1099.

6. Li J, Schwimmbeck PL, Tschope C, Leschka S, Husmann L, Rutschow S, Reichenbach F, Noutsias M, Kobalz U, Poller W, Spillmann F, Zeichhardt H, Schultheiss HP, Pauschinger M. Collagen degradation in a murine myocarditis model: Relevance of matrix metalloproteinase in association with inflammatory induction. Cardiovascular Res. 2002; 56:235 – 247.

7. Finkel MS, Oddis CV, Jacob TD, Watkins SC, Hattler BG, Simmons RL. Negative inotropic effects of cytokines on the heart mediated by nitric oxide. Science. **1992**; 257:387 – 389.

74

8. Hirsch AT, Talsness CE, Schunkert H, Paul M, Dzau VJ. Tissue-specific activation of cardiac angiotensin-converting enzyme in experimental heart failure. Cir Res. 1991; 69:475 – 482.

9. Lindpainter K, Lu W, Neidermaier N, Schieffer B, Just H, Ganten D, Drexler H. Selective activation of cardiac angiotensinogen gene expression in post-infarction ventricular remodelling in the rat. J Mol Cell Cardiol. **1993**; 25:133 – 143.

10. Meggs LG, Coupet J, Huang H, Cheng W, Li P, Capasso JM, Homcy CJ, Anversa P. Regulation of angiotensin II receptors on ventricular myocytes after myocardial infarction in rats. Cir Res. **1993**; 72:1149 – 1162.

11. Zhu YZ, Zhu YC, Li J, Schafer H, Schmidt W, Yao T, Unger T. Effects of losartan on hemodynamic parameters and angiotensin receptor mRNA levels in rat heart after myocardial infarction. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst. **2000**; 1(3):2576 – 2.

12. Nio Y, Matsubara H, Murasawa S, Kanasaki M, Inada M: Regulation of gene transcription of angiotensin II receptor subtypes in myocardial infarction. J Clin Invest. **1995**, 95:46 – 54.

13. Okamura A, Rakugi H, Ohishi M, Yanagitani Y, Takiuchi S, Moriguchi K, Fennessy PA, Higaki J, Ogihara T. Upregulation of renin-angiotensin system during differentiation of monocytes to macrophages. J Hypertens. **1999**; 17:537 – 545.

14. Busche S, Gallinat S, Bohle RM, Reinecke A, Seebeck J, Franke F, Fink L, Zhu M, Sumners C, Unger T. Expression of angiotensin AT(1) and AT(2) receptors in adult rat cardiomyocytes after myocardial infarction. A single-cell reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction study. Am J Pathol. **2000**; 157(2):605 – 11.

15. Matsubara H. Renin-angiotensin system in human failing hearts: message from nonmyocyte cells to myocytes. Circ Res. **2001**; 88:861-863.

16. Li J, Kaschina E, Elkhrbash K, Timm M, Sommerfeld M, Unger T. Angiotensin AT1 receptors are upregulated mainly in cardiomyocytes in the border-zones of myocardial infarction and mediate apoptosis in rats. Hypertension. **2004**; 44:584.

17. Stoll M, Steckelings UM, Paul M, Bottari SP, Metzger R, Unger T. The angiotensin AT2-receptor mediates inhibition of cell proliferation in coronary endothelial cells. J Clin Invest.
1995; 95:651 – 7.

18. Meffert S, Stoll M, Steckelings UM, Bottari SP, Unger T. The angiotensin II AT2 receptor inhibits proliferation and promotes differentiation in PC12W cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol. **1996**; 122:59 – 67.

19. Zhu YC, Zhu YZ, Gohlke P, Unger T. Effects of converting enzyme inhibition and angiotensin II AT1 receptor antagonism on cardiac parameters in left ventricular hypertrophy. Am J Cardiol, **1997**; 80(3A):110A – 117A.

20. Gallinat S, Busche S, Schutze S, Kronke M, Unger T. AT2 receptor stimulation induces generation of ceramides in PC12W cells. FEBS Lett. **1999**; 443(1):75 – 9.

14. Busche S, Gallinat S, Bohle RM, Reinecke A, Seebeck J, Franke F, Fink L, Zhu M, Sumners C, Unger T. Expression of angiotensin AT(1) and AT(2) receptors in adult rat cardiomyocytes after myocardial infarction. A single-cell reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction study. Am J Pathol. 2000; 157(2):605 - 11.

11. Zhu YZ, Zhu YC, Li J, Schafer H, Schmidt W, Yao T, Unger T. Effects of losartan on haemodynamic parameters and angiotensin receptor mRNA levels in rat heart after myocardial infarction. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst. **2000**; 1(3):257 – 62.

21. De Gasparo M, Catt KJ, Inagami T, Wright JW, Unger TH. The angiotensin II receptors.Pharmacol Rev **2000**; 52:415 – 72.

22. Pitt P, Poole-Wilson PA, Segal R, Martinez FA, Dickstein K, Camm AJ, Konstam MA, Riegger G, Klinger GH, Neaton J, Sharma D, Thiyagarajan B. Effect of losartan compared with captopril on mortality in patients with symptomatic heart failure: randomized trial - the Losartan Heart Failure Survival Study ELITE II. Lancet **2000**; 355:1582 – 1587.

23. Xia Q-G, Chung O, Spitznagel H, Illner S, Jänichen G, Rossius B, Gohlke P, Reinecke A, Unger Th. Significance of timing of angiotensin AT1 receptor blockade in rats with myocardial infarction-induced heart failure. Cardiovasc Res. **2001**; 49: 110 – 117.

24. Sandmann S, Yu M, Kaschina E, Blume A, Bouzinova E, Aalkjaer C, Unger T. Differential effects of angiotensin AT1 and AT2 receptors on the expression, translation and function of the Na+-H+ exchanger and Na+-HCO3- symporter in the rat heart after myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. **2001**; 37:2154 – 2165.

25. Yang Z, Bove CM, French BA, Epstein FH, Berr SS, DiMaria JM, Gibson JJ, Carey RM, Kramer CM. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor overexpression preserves left ventricular function after myocardial infarction. Circulation **2002**; 106(1):106 – 11.

26. Cleutjens, Gallinat S, Bohle RM, Reinecke A, Seebeck J, Franke F, Fink L, Zhu M, Sumners C, Unger T. Expression of angiotensin AT(1) and AT(2) receptors in adult rat cardiomyocytes after myocardial infarction. A single-cell reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction study. Am J Pathol. **1999**; 157:605 – 611.

27. Struijker-Bouder, Paul M, Bottari SP, Metzger R, Unger T. The angiotensin AT2-receptor mediates inhibition of cell proliferation in coronary endothelial cells. J Clin Invest.
1995; 95:651 – 7.

28. Sun and Weber, Lin HK, Miyashita T, Wang HG, Krajewski S, Reed JC, Hoffman B, Liebermann D. Oncogene. 2000; 9(6):1791 – 8.

29. Anversa, Oka T, Zou Y, Sakamoto M, Mizukami M, Sano M, Yamamoto R, Sugaya T, Komuro I. Hypertens Res. **1991**; 25(4):597 – 603.

30. Raff, Martin. Cell suicide for beginners. Nature. 1998; 119 – 122

31. Csipo I, Montel, A. H., Hobbs, J. A., Morse, P. A., and Brahmi, Z. Effect of Fas+ and Fas- target cells on the ability of NK cells to repeatedly fragment DNA and trigger lysis via the Fas lytic pathway. Apoptosis.**1998**; 105 – 114.

32. Adrain C, Creagh, E. M., and Martin, S. J. Caspase Cascades in Apoptosis. Caspasestheir role in cell death and cell survival. Ed. Marek Los and Henning Walczak. Moleculare Biology Intelligence Unit 24. New York: New York, **2002**; 41 – 51.

33. Hague A, and Paraskeva, C. Apoptosis and disease: a matter of cell fate. Nature Cell Death and Differentiation. **2004**; 1-7.

34. Dormandy, Thomas. The worst of evils: Inflammation and its respond . New Haven, Conn: Yale University Press.**2006**; pp. 22. ISBN 0-300-11322-6.

35. Graeber T.G, J.F. Peterson, M. Tsai, K. Monica, A.J. Fornace, Jr., and A.J. Giaccia. Hypoxia induces accumulation of p53 protein, but activation of a G1-phase checkpoint by low-oxygen conditions is independent of p53 status. Mol. Cell. Biol.**1994**; 14:6264 – 6277.

36. Gavrieli Y, Sherman Y, Ben-Sasson SA. Identification of programmed cell death in situ via specific labeling of nuclear DNA fragmentation. J Cell Biol. **1992**; 119(3):493 – 501.

37. Wolf, Etayo JC, and Diez J. Overexpression of bax protein and enhanced apoptosis in the left ventricle of spontaneously hypertensive rats: effects of AT1R blockade with losartan. Hypertension .**1999**; 32: 280 – 286.

38. Susin, Fortune MA, and Ravassa S. Apoptosis in hypertensive heart disease. Curr Opin Cardiol. **1999**; 13: 317 – 325.

39. Nagata S. Fas ligand-induced apoptosis. Annu Rev Genet. 1999; 33:29 – 55.

40. Davies MJ. Apoptosis in cardiovascular disease. Heart. 1997; 77(6):498 - 501.

41. Niccoli, Ali A, Thornberry NA, Vaillancourt JP, Ding CK, Gallant M, Gareau Y, Griffin PR, Labelle M, and Lazebnick YA Identification and inhibition of the CE/CED-3 protease necessary for mammalian apoptosis. Nature.**2001**; 376: 37 – 43.

42. Gottlieb. Apoptosis in the pathogenesis and treatment of disease. Science.**1994**; 267: 1456 – 1462.

43. Cheng W, Kajstura J, Nitahara JA, Li B, Reiss K, Liu Y, Clark WA, Krajewski S, Reed JC, Olivetti G, Anversa P. Programmed myocyte cell death affects the viable myocardium after infarction in rats. Exp Cell Res. **1996**; 226(2):316 – 27.

44. Kajstura J, Cheng W, Reiss K, Clark WA, Sonnenblick EH, Krajewski S, Reed JC, Olivetti G, Anversa P. Apoptotic and necrotic myocyte cell deaths are independent contributing variables of infarct size in rats. Lab Invest. **1996**; 74(1):86 – 107.

45. Fliss H, Gattinger D. Apoptosis in ischemic and reperfused rat myocardium. Circ Res.
1996; 79(5):949 – 56.

46. Olivetti G, Quaini F, Sala R, Lagrasta C, Corradi D, Bonacina E, Gambert SR, Cigola E, Anversa P. Acute myocardial infarction in humans is associated with activation of programmed myocyte cell death in the surviving portion of the heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol. **1996**; 28(9):2005 – 16.

47. Misao J, Hayakawa Y, Ohno M, Kato S, Fujiwara T, Fujiwara H. Expression of bcl-2 protein, an inhibitor of apoptosis, and Bax, an accelerator of apoptosis, in ventricular myocytes of human hearts with myocardial infarction. Circulation. **1996**; 94(7):1506 – 12.

48. Saraste A, Pulkki K, Kallajoki M, Henriksen K, Parvinen M, Voipio-Pulkki LM. Apoptosis in human acute myocardial infarction. Circulation. **1997**; 95(2):320 – 3

49. Yaoita H, Ogawa K, Maehara K, Maruyama Y. Attenuation of ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats by a caspase inhibitor. Circulation. **1998**; 97(3):276 – 81.

50. Olibetti T.G, Osmanian C, Jacks T, Housman D.E, Koch C.J, Lowe S.W, and Giaccia A.J. Hypoxia-mediated selection of cells with diminished apoptotic potential in tumours. Nature (Lond.)**1996**; 379:88 – 91.

51. Takemura G, Ohno M, Hayakawa Y, Misao J, Kanoh M, Ohno A, Uno Y, Minatoguchi S, Fujiwara T, Fujiwara H. Role of apoptosis in the disappearance of infiltrated and proliferated interstitial cells after myocardial infarction. Circ Res. **1998**; 82(11):1130 – 8.

52. Timmermans PB, Wong PC, Chiu AT, Herblin WF, Benfield P, Carini DJ, Lee RJ, Wexler RR, Saye JA, Smith RD. Angiotensin II receptors and angiotensin II receptor antagonists. Pharmacol Rev, **1993**, 45:205 – 251.

53. Leri A, Claudio PP, Li Q, Wang X, Reiss K, Wang S, Malhotra A, Kajstura J, Anversa P. Stretch-mediated release of angiotensin II induces myocyte apoptosis by activating p53 that enhances the local rennin-angiotensin system and decreases the Bcl-2-to-Bax protein ratio in the cell. J Clin Invest. **1998**; 101(7):1326 – 42.

54. Cao Z, Kelly DJ, Cox A, Casley D, Forbes JM, Martinello P, Dean R, Gilbert RE, Cooper ME. Angiotensin type 2 receptor is expressed in the adult rat kidney and promotes cellular proliferation and apoptosis. Kidney Int. **2000**; 58(6):2437 – 51.

55. Horiuchi M, Akishita M, Dzau VJ. Molecular and cellular mechanism of angiotensin IImediated apoptosis. Endocr Res. **1998**; 24(3-4):3071–4.

56. Yamada T, Horiuchi M, Dzau VJ. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor mediates programmed cell death. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. **1996**; 93(1):156–60.

57. Horiuchi M, Hayashida W, Kambe T, Yamada T, Dzau VJ. Angiotensin type 2 receptor dephosphorylates Bcl-2 by activating mitogen -activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 and induces apoptosis. J Biol Chem.**1997**; 272(30):19022 – 6.

58. Morrissey JJ, Klahr S. Effect of AT2 receptor blockade on the pathogenesis of renal fibrosis. Am J Physiol. **1999**; 276(1 Pt 2):F39 – 45.

59. Lehtonen JY, Horiuchi M, Daviet L, Akishita M, Dzau VJ. Activation of the de novo biosynthesis of sphingolipids mediates angiotensin II type 2 receptor-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem. **1999**; 274(24):16901 – 6.

60. Pierzchalski P, Reiss K, Cheng W, Cirielli C, Kajstura J, Nitahara JA, Rizk M, Capogrossi MC, Anversa P. p53 Induces myocyte apoptosis via the activation of the reninangiotensin system. Exp Cell Res. **1997**; 234(1):57 – 65.

61. Li DY, Yang BC, Philips MI, Mehta JL. Pro-apoptotic effects of Ang II in human coronary artery endothelial cells: role of AT1 receptor and PKC activation. AM J Physiol **1999**; 276: H786 – H792.

62. Yu-Hua Liao, Xiang Cheng Autoimmunity in myocardial infarction. International Journal of Cardiology.**2006**; 112:21 – 26

63. Frangogiannisa N, Smithb C, Entman M. The inflammatory response in myocardial infarction. Cardiovascular Research **2002**; 53:31 – 47.

64. Yang F, Liu YH, Yang XP, Xu J, Kapke A and Carretero OA. Myocardial infarction and cardiac remodeling in mice .Experimental Physiology **2002**; 87: 547 – 555.

65. Syrjälä H, Surcel H, Ilonen J. Low CD4/CD8 T lymphocyte ratio in acute myocardial infarction. Clinical and Experimental Immunology**1991**; 83: 326-328.

66. Maisel A, Cesario D, Baird S, Rehman J. Experimental Autoimmune Myocarditis Produced by Adoptive Transfer of Splenocytes After Myocardial Infarction. Circulation Research. **1998**; 82:458 – 463.

67. Mehta P, Griendling K. Angiotensin II cell signaling: physiological and pathological effects in the cardiovascular system. American Journal of Cell Physiology **2007**; 292:82-97.

68. Cigola E, Kajstura J, Li B, Meggs L, Anversa P. Angiotensin II activates programmed cell death in vitro. Experimental Cell Research **1997**; 231:363–371.

69. Lucius **R**, Gallinat S, Rosenstiel P, Herdegen T, Sievers J, Unger T. The angiotensin II type 2 (AT2) receptor promotes axonal regeneration in the optic nerve of adult rats. J Exp Med. **1998**; 188:661-70.

70. Cerbai E, Crucitti A, Sartiani L, De Paoli P, Pino R, Rodriguez ML, Gensini G, Mugelli A. Long-term treatment of spontaneously hypertensive rats with losartan and electrophysiological remodeling of cardiac myocytes. Cardiovasc Res **2000**; 45(2):388-96.

71. Madeddu P, Emanueli C, Maestri R, Salis MB, Minasi A, Capogrossi MC, Olivetti G. Angiotensin II type 1 receptor blockade prevents cardiac remodeling in bradykinin B(2) receptor knockout mice. Hypertension **2000**; 35(1 Pt 2):391-6.

72. Butler KL, Huang AH, Gwathmey JK. AT1-receptor blockade enhances ischemic preconditioning in hypertrophied rat myocardium. Am J Physiol **1999**; 277(6 Pt 2):H2482-7.

73. White M. Cardioprotective effect of angiotensin II receptor antagonists. Can J Cardiol **1999**; 15 Suppl F:10F-4F.

74. Riegger GA, Bouzo H, Petr P, Munz J, Spacek R, Pethig H, von Behren V, George M, Arens H. Improvement in exercise tolerance and symptoms of congestive heart failure during treatment with candesartan cilexetil. Symptom, Tolerability, Response to Exercise Trial of Candesartan Cilexetil in Heart Failure (STRETCH) Investigators. Circulation **1999**; 100(22):2224 – 30.

75. Lamparter S, Sun Y, Weber KT. Angiotensin II receptor blockade during gestation attenuates collagen formation in the developing rat heart. Cardiovascular Res. **1999**; 43(1):165 – 72.

76. Burnier M, Waeber B, Brunner HR. The advantages of angiotensin II antagonist. J.
Hypertens, 1994, 12(2): S7 – 15

77. Liu YH, Yang XP, Sharov VG, Nass O, Sabbah HN, Peterson E, Carretero OA. Effects of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonists in rats with heart failure. Role of kinins and angiotensin II type 2 receptors. J Clin Invest **1997**; 99(8):1926 – 35.

78. Ford WR, Clanachan AS, Jugdutt BI. Opposite effects of angiotensin AT1 and AT2 receptor antagonists on recovery of mechanical function after ischemia-reperfusion in isolated working rat hearts. Circulation **1996**; 94(12):3087 - 9.

79. Ford WR, Clanachan AS, Jugdutt BI. Characterization of cardio protection mediated by AT2 receptor antagonism after ischemia-reperfusion in isolated working rat hearts. J Cardiovascular Pharmacol Ther **2000**; 5(3):211-21.

80. Xu Y, Kumar D, Dyck JR, Ford WR, Clanachan AS, Lopaschuk GD, Jugdutt BI. AT(1) and AT(2) receptor expression and blockade after acute ischemia-reperfusion in isolated working rat hearts. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol **2002**; 282(4):H1206 – 15.

81. Xu Y, Clanachan AS, Jugdutt BI. Enhanced expression of angiotensin II type 2 receptor, inositol 1,4, 5-trisphosphate receptor, and protein kinase cepsilon during cardioprotection induced by angiotensin II type 2 receptor blockade. Hypertension **2000**; 36(4):506 – 10.

82. Kuizinga MC, Smits JF, Arends JW, Daemen MJAP. AT2 receptor blockade reduces cardiac interstitial cell DNA synthesis and cardiac function after rat myocardial infarction. J Mol Cell Cardiol **1998**; 30(2):425 – 34.

83. Campbell SE, Katwa LC. Angiotensin II stimulated expression of transforming growth factor-beta1 in cardiac fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. J Mol Cell Cardiol **1997**; 29(7):1947 – 58.

84. Varagic J, Susic D, Frohlich ED. Coronary hemodynamic and ventricular responses to angiotensin type 1 receptor inhibition in SHR: interaction with angiotensin type 2 receptors. Hypertension **2001**;37(6):1399 – 403.

85. Liu Y, Tsuchida A, Cohen MV, Downey JM. Pretreatment with angiotensin II activates protein kinase C and limits myocardial infarction in isolated rabbit hearts. J Mol Cell Cardiol **1995**; 27(3):883 – 92.

86. Kaschina E, Grzesiak A, Li J, Foryst-Ludwig A, Timm M, Rompe F, Sommerfeld M, Kemnitz U.R, Curato C. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor stimulation: a novel option of therapeutic interference with the renin-angiotensin system in myocardial infarction? Circulation **2008**; 118, 2523 – 532.

83

87. Takagawa J, Zhang Y, Wong ML, Sievers RE, Kapasi NK, Wang Y, Yeghiazarians Y, Lee RJ, Grossman W, Springer ML.Myocardial infarct size measurement in the mouse chronic infarction model: comparison of area- and length-based approaches.
2007;102(6):21041 – 1.

88. Farook JM, Zhu YZ, Wang H, Moochhala S, Lee L, Wong PT. Drug Discovery and Evaluation: Pharmacological Assays. **2001**; 106:531 – 539

89. Thompson GB. Apoptosis in the pathogenesis and treatment of disease. Science 1995;267: 1456 – 1462.

90. Goussev A, Sharov VG, Shimoyama H, Tanimura M, Lesch M, Goldstein S, and Sabbah HN. Effects of ACE inhibition on H1640 AT1receptor angiotensin receptors and apoptosis in cardiomyocyte apoptosis in dogs with heart failure. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. **1998**; 275: H626 – H631.

91. Diez J, Fortune MA, and Ravassa S. Apoptosis in hypertensive heart disease. Curr Opin Cardiol. **1998**; 13: 317–325.

92. Kobara M, Tatsumi T, Kambayashi D, Mano A, Yamanaka S, Shiraishi J, Keira N, Matoba S, Asayama J, Fushiki S, Nakagawa M. Effects of ACE inhibition on myocardial apoptosis in an ischemia-reperfusion rat heart model. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. **2003**; 41(6):880 – 9.

93. Kossmehl P, Kurth E, Faramarzi S, Habighorst B, Shakibaei M, Wehland M, Kreutz R, Infanger M, J Danser AH, Grosse J, Paul M, Grimm D. Mechanisms of apoptosis after ischemia and reperfusion: role of the renin-angiotensin system. Apoptosis. **2006**; 11(3):347 – 58.

94. **Fortuno MA**, Ravassa S, Etayo JC, and Diez J. Overexpression of bax protein and enhanced apoptosis in the left ventricle of spontaneously hypertensive rats: effects of AT1R blockade with losartan. Hypertension **1998**; 32: 280 – 286.

95. Hanada M, Aime-Sempe C, Sato T, and Reed JC. Structure function analysis of bcl-2 protein: identification of conserved domains important for homo dimerization with bcl-2 and hetero dimerization with bax. J Biol Chem **1995**; 270: 11962 – 11969.

96. Oltvai ZN, Milliman CL, and Korsmeyer SJ. bcl-2 hetero dimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. Cell **1993**; 74: 609 – 619.

97. Nicholson DW, Thornberry NA. Caspases: killer proteases. Trends Biochem Sci.1997;
22: 299 – 306.

98. Nicholson DW, Ali A, Thornberry NA, Vaillancourt JP, Ding CK, Gallant M, Gareau Y, Griffin PR, Labelle M, and Lazebnick YA Identification and inhibition of the CE/CED-3 protease necessary for mammalian apoptosis. Nature **1995**; 376: 37 – 43.

99. Han Z, Hendrickson EA, Bremner TA, and Wyche JH. A sequential two-step mechanism for the production of the mature P17:P12 form of caspase-3 in vitro. J Biol Chem**1997**; 272: 13432–13436.

100. White E, Life. death and the pursuit of apoptosis. Genes Dev.1996; 10:1–15.

101. Selivanova G, and K.G. Wiman. p53: a cell cycle regulator activated by DNA damage. Adv. Cancer Res.**1995**; 66:143–180.

102. Miyashita T, S. Krajewski, M. Krajewska, H.G. Wang, H.K. Lin, D.A. Liebermann, B. Hoffman, and J.C. Reed. Tumor suppressor p53 is a regulator of bcl-2 and bax gene expression in vitro and in vivo. Oncogene. **1994**; 9:1799–1805.

103. Selvakumaran M, H.-K. Lin, T. Miyashita, H.G. Wang, S. Krajewski, J.C. Reed, B. Hoffman, and D. Liebermann. Immediate early upregulation of bax expression by p53 but not TGFB1: a paradigm for distinct apoptotic pathways. Oncogene.**1994**; 9:1791–1798

104. Miyashita T, and J.C. Reed. Tumor suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of the human bax gene. Cell. **1995**; 80:293 – 299.

105. Schwartz J.L, Antoniades D.Z, Zhao S. Molecular and biochemical reprogramming of oncogenesis through the activity of prooxidants and antioxidants. Ann. NY Acad. Sci.**1993**; 686:262 – 278.

106. Long X, Boluyt M.O, Hipolito M. dL, Lundberg M.S, Zheng J.S, Neil L.O, Cirielli C, Lakatta E.G, and Crow M.T. p53 and the hypoxia- induced apoptosis of cultured neonatal rat cardiac myocytes. J. Clin. Invest. **1997**; 99:2635 – 2643.

107. Matsusaka H, Ide T, Matsushima S, Ikeuchi M, Kubota T, Sunagawa K, Kinugawa S, Tsutsui H. Targeted deletion of p53 prevents cardiac rupture after myocardial infarction in mice.Cardiovasc Res. **2006** ;70 (3):457 – 65.

108. Nakajima H, Nakajima HO, Tsai SC, Field LJ. Expression of mutant p193 and p53 permits cardiomyocyte cell cycle reentry after myocardial infarction in transgenic mice.Circ Res. **2004**; 94(12):1606 – 14.

109. Kanamori H, Takemura G, Li Y, Okada H, Maruyama R, Aoyama T, Miyata S, Esaki M, Ogino A, Nakagawa M, Ushikoshi H, Kawasaki M, Minatoguchi S, Fujiwara H. Inhibition of Fas-associated apoptosis in granulation tissue cells accompanies attenuation of post infarction left ventricular remodeling by olmesartan. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.**2007**; 292(5):H2184 – 94.

110. Fortuno MA, Ravassa S, Etayo JC, Díez J. Overexpression of Bax protein and enhanced apoptosis in the left ventricle of spontaneously hypertensive rats: effects of AT1 blockade with losartan. Hypertension. **1998**;32(2):280 – 6.

111. Maekawa Y, Anzai T, Yoshikawa T, Asakura Y, Takahashi T, Ishikawa S, et al. Prognostic significance of peripheral monocytosis after reperfused acute myocardial infarction: A possible role for left ventricular remodeling. J Am Coll Cardiol **2002**; 39: 241 – 246.

112. Maekawa Y, Anzai T, Yoshikawa T, Sugano Y, Mahara K, Kohno T, et al. Effect of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor inducer on left ventricular remodeling after acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol **2004**; 44: 1510 – 1520.

113. Jackson BM, Gorman JH, Moainie SL, Guy TS, Narula N, Narula J, et al. Extension of border zone myocardium in post infarction dilated cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002;
40: 1160 – 1167.

114. Vandervelde S, van Amerongen MJ, Tio RA, Petersen AH, van Luyn MJ, Harmsen MC. Increased inflammatory response and neovascularization in reperfused vs non-reperfused murine myocardial infarction. Cardiovascular Pathol. **2006**; 15(2):83 – 90.

115. Toko H, Zou Y, Minamino T, Masaya M, Harada M, Nagai T, Sugaya T, Terasaki F, Kitaura Y, Komuro I. Angiotensin II type 1a receptor mediates doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. **2004**; 24(4):664 – 70.

116. Wan S, LeClerc JL, Vincent JL. Inflammatory response to cardiopulmonary bypass: mechanisms involved and possible therapeutic strategies. Chest. **1997**; 112(3):676 – 92.

117. Hayward R, Nossuli TO, Scalia R, Lefer AM. Cardioprotective effect of interleukin-10 in murine myocardial ischemia-reperfusion. Eur J Pharmacol.

1997; 334(2-3):157 – 63.

118. Curato C, Slavic S, Dong J, Skorska A, Altarche-Xifró W, Miteva K, Kaschina E, Thiel A, Imboden H, Wang J, Steckelings U, Steinhoff G, Unger T,

Li J. Identification of noncytotoxic and IL-10-producing CD8+AT2R+ T cell population in response to ischemic heart injury. J Immunol. **2010**;185(10):6286 – 93.

119. Kohno T, Anzai T, Naito K, Sugano Y, Maekawa Y, Takahashi T, Yoshikawa T, Ogawa S. Angiotensin-receptor blockade reduces border zone myocardial monocyte chemo attractant protein-1 expression and macrophage infiltration in post-infarction ventricular remodelling.

Circ J. 2008 ;72(10):1685 – 92.

11. List of publications

Li J, Kaschina E, Elkhrbash K, Timm M, Sommerfeld M, Unger T.
 Divergent roles of angiotensin AT1 and AT2 receptors in myocardial ischemia-induced apoptosis and inflammation. Hypertension 2005; 46: 906 – 907.

2. Li J, Elkhrbash K, Kaschina E, Timm M, Unger T.

Upregulated Angiotensin AT1 Receptors Associate With Apoptosis Induction in Cardiomyocytes After Myocardial Infarction in Rats. Hypertension. **2004**; 22:S39.

3. Li J, Kaschina E, Elkhrbash K, Timm M, Sommerfeld M, Unger T.

Angiotensin AT1 receptors are upregulated mainly in cardiomyocytes in the border-zones of myocardial infarction and mediate apoptosis in rats. Hypertension. **2004**; 44:584.

4. Li J, Elkhrbash K, Timm M, Unger T.

Divergent roles of angiotensin AT1 and AT2 receptors in myocardial ischemia-induced apoptosis and inflammation . German Medical Science. **2006**; M0037.

5. Li J, Kaschina E, Elkhrbash K, Timm M, Sommerfeld M, Unger T.

Divergent role of AT1 and AT2 receptors in myocardial ischemia-induced apoptosis and inflammation . German Medical Science. **2005**; M0017.

12. Acknowledgments

I would first like to thank my mother, Fatima Mossadiq, without her continuous support and encouragement I never would have been able to achieve my goals.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Univ.-Prof. Dr. Tomas Unger for his encouragement and valuable supports throughout the whole study.

I'm greatly indebted to Dr. med. Jun Li for giving me chance to work with him and his valuable contributions all through the experiments. Without their deep interest and intellectual support, this study would not have been completed.

My sincere gratitude goes to Univ.-Prof. Dr. Heidrun Fink, she played such an important role in getting this project successfully done.

I would like to thank Dr. Elena Kaschina for her help in animal experiment, She has provided me with the necessary guidance to successfully complete this project. I greatly appreciate everything she has done for me.

I'm grateful to my colleagues, namely, Michael, Christian, Nadia, Mathius, Melanie, Manuela, Ronald, Cristian, for their valuable friendships.

I would like to thank my family for their encouragement and patience also a special thanks to my sweets Fatima, Moad.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the largest of all my debts of gratitude: to my wife Samah. Without her encouragement, this work would never been completed.

13. Selbstständigkeitserklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt, dass die Dissertation von mir selbst und ohne die unzulässige Hilfe Dritter verfasst wurde, auch in Teilen keine Kopie anderer Arbeiten darstellt und die benutzten Hilfsmittel sowie die Literatur vollständig angegeben sind.

Berlin, den10.04.2014

Kamal Elkhrbash